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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER 
 

Dear Shareholder,  
 
 
 
 
 
I am pleased to present an overview of your Company’s activities for the year ended 31 March 
2019. 
 
The past year has seen the Company continue to maintain a strategy for the development of 
its assets with a keen focus on the progression of the gold projects towards a production phase. 
 
The year saw additional drilling occur at the Mt Celia project with a focus on increasing the 
size of the resource as well as undertaking an initial scoping study on the economics of the 
project. As announced on 15 October 2018, the Mt Celia project shows a strong economic 
case for development, with all studies showing the potential to generate strong cash flows for 
either a stand-alone mine or trucking to an off-site plant. 
 
Encouraged by the findings of this scoping study, work continues to further extend and 
enhance the known resource both along strike and at depth, with additional drilling occurring 
during the year. The ultimate goal for the Company is to begin production in the short term. 
 
The Mt Bevan project has been maintained on minimal expenditure throughout the year with 
a focus on using any expenditure to explore for nickel. The Company remains mindful of 
developing this asset but in a firmer economic environment of higher metal prices.  
 
A strengthening iron ore price from the start or 2019 has again allowed the Company to visit 
the possibility of increasing exploration expenditure in the coming year as prices continue to 
trade around US$86 per ton making the project economically more viable. 
 
The past year also saw the Company be granted several tenements prospective for tungsten. 
The year ahead will see an exciting time for the Company as it commences maiden exploration 
on these granted tenements. Global demand remains strong for tungsten. 
 
Finally, the Koongie Park tenements remain promising for rare earths and base metals. 
Exploration will continue at these tenements. 
 
With approximately $1.5m in cash reserves, the focus remains on controlled expenditure and 
fiscal discipline for the coming year, but with ongoing exploration. 
 
I sincerely thank all shareholders and staff for your ongoing support and look forward to 
2019/20 as Legacy continues to progress its broader asset portfolio.  
 
Yours faithfully,  
 
N.B. Kumar 
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OPERATIONS REPORT 
 
Legacy Iron Ore Limited (Legacy Iron or the Company) is an active exploration company with a diverse 

portfolio of assets spanning iron ore, gold, base metals and tungsten (Figure 1).  

 

The Company has a strong focus on the development of its gold assets in the Eastern Goldfields, where 

a number of tenements have highly encouraging gold prospects/resources. 

 

In addition, the Koongie Park project in the East Kimberley region has excellent potential to host VHMS 

base metal, gold and REE mineralisation. The Company is also in a Joint Venture with Hawthorn 

Resources Limited (Hawthorn) on the Mt Bevan Project, north of Kalgoorlie in Western Australia, where 

the Company is progressing a potentially world class magnetite project and exploring for nickel-copper 

mineralisation at an early stage.  

 

During the year company has successfully acquired three new exploration tenements in East Kimberley 

region which are prospective for tungsten mineralisation. 

 

 

 
 

Figure 1:  Legacy Iron – Project Locations 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

GOLD 
 
South Laverton Gold Project 
 
Legacy Iron’s major interest lies in the South Laverton region, where the Company holds multiple 

prospective tenements/projects (Figure 2). The South Laverton project areas lies along the Keith 

Kilkenny Tectonic Zone (“KKTZ”) and the southern part of the Laverton Tectonic Zone (“LTZ”). These 

structures host numerous major gold mines, with the LTZ in particular hosting gold resources of some 

20 million ounces.  

 

 
 

Figure 2: Legacy Iron’s South Laverton Gold Projects on regional geology (source: Legacy) 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

The South Laverton project includes Mt Celia, Yerilla, Yilgangi and Patricia North tenements (Figure 2). 

The Mt Celia, Yerilla and Yilgangi tenement packages contain a number of gold occurrences with some 

known gold resource estimates from years prior to the change in JORC code reporting in 2012. The 

Company has upgraded the resource for Mt Celia (Kangaroo Bore and Blue Peter orebodies) in March 

2018, with the remaining to occur.  

The company is progressing the Mt Celia project with a view to develop a mine. Initial pit optimisation 

study completed during the year, confirmed that the Mt Celia project has potential to be a technically 

and economically viable project (ASX announcement dated 15 Oct 2018). 

During the year Legacy Iron’s exploration activities were focussed on the Mt Celia, Yilgangi and Sunrise 

Bore projects mainly and to a lesser extent on Yerrila and Patricia North.   

 
Mt. Celia Project 
 
The Mt Celia Project lies within the Laverton Tectonic Zone, some 40km south of the Sunrise Dam gold 

mine (approximately, 8Moz gold resource), as shown in Figure 2. The Project currently contains several 

known gold occurrences including Kangaroo Bore and Blue Peter prospects (Figure 3). 

Total resource at Mt Celia stands as below as of March 2018 (Table 1) – 

 

 
 

Table 1: Mt Celia Project -Mineral Resource estimate as at March 2018 
 

((Note: please refer to ASX announcement made on 17 Nov 2017 and 22 Mar 2018 for the complete statement about the above 
Kangaroo bore and Blue Peter resource estimates. An additional round of RC drilling been completed at Kangaroo Bore after 

these estimates; however, it was mainly aimed to test the continuity and depth extensions of the ore body and will be 
considered in the next round of the resource upgrade for the project) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deposit Classification Cut-off (g/t) Tonnage (t) Grade (g/t) Metal (OZ)

Kangaroo Bore Inferred 0.7 2,800,000 1.48 133,000

Blue peter Inferred 1 607200 2.62 51,100

Total (Mt Celia) Inferred 3,407,200 1.68 184,100
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

 

 

Figure 3: Mt Celia Project- Aerial image showing various prospect locations 

 

The Kangaroo Bore deposit is hosted by the Laverton Tectonic Complex, a strongly faulted and folded 

greenstone sequence that forms part of the larger Edjudina-Laverton greenstone belt. The 

mineralisation occurs within the Kangaroo Bore shear zone, which strikes to the northwest, and dips 

steeply to the northeast.  The gold mineralisation occurs predominantly within micro-folded quartz-

carbonate veins hosted within silicified quartz-pyrophyllite schists.   

The Blue Peter (including Coronation) prospect is located approximately 2-3km south of the Kangaroo 

Bore with in the Mt Celia Project. At Blue Peter, the shear system contains several small historic gold 

workings including Coronation. The shear system extends over a distance of at least 2 kilometres, and 

consists of single, parallel or an echelon quartz filled shears within mafic and lesser ultramafic 

lithologies, that flank an eastern granitoid. This geometry coupled with the widespread gold dry blowings 

is favourable for a bulk tonnage gold potential for the system. 

Additionally, the Mt Celia project contains numerous early stage exploration targets and prospects which 

requires further work to evaluate their strike and down dip continuity (Figure 3 & 11). 

During the year, Legacy Iron’s major focus of activities has been on – 

1. Evaluating the technical and economic viability of Kangaroo Bore and Blue Peter prospects 

(ASX announcement 15 Oct 2018)  

2. Infill drilling at Kangaroo Bore to assist with next round of resource upgrade (ASX 

announcement 22 Jan 2019 & 26 Feb 2019) and  

3. Drill testing of priority early stage exploration targets/anomalies present within the Mt Celia 

project (refer ASX announcement of 16/06/2018).    
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

Pit Optimisation Study (ASX announcement of 15 Oct 2018) 

As mentioned in the previous section an initial pit optimisation study has been completed during this 

reporting period to investigate the mining potential at the Mt Celia Project and the potential for cashflow. 

Pit Optimisation Parameters 

The study was undertaken by AMC Consultants Pty Ltd (AMC) using Whittle Four-X software and was 

completed using the inferred resource (reference table 2 above) and a base case gold price of 

A$1,650/oz.  

AMC prepared models by adding cost, recovery, royalty and revenue drivers to individual blocks within 

the models using Datamine macros. This process provides an audit trail and reduces errors in assigning 

optimisation parameters. Royalties, administration charges, ore processing costs and other ore related 

costs were all aggregated to create a total ore related cost which was assigned to ore blocks. Mining 

costs common to all material types were assigned to all model blocks.  

Parameters from the inferred resource exploration drilling work were used in the study.  A total of, 207 

drill holes including 24 diamond holes (totalling 15,099 m of drilling) were considered for use in the 

Kangaroo Bore estimates. Majority of the data used for resource estimation was derived from historical 

drilling. For Blue Peter, A total of 122 RC holes (totalling 9,356 m of drilling) were considered for use in 

the estimates.  The majority of the data used for Blue Pater resource estimation was derived from drilling 

programmes conducted by Legacy Iron since the start of 2010.  Where parameters weren’t known, AMC 

applied mining cost parameters based on similar sized operations in the region from AMC’s database.  

All parameters used were in the range of normally acceptable cost limits of similar mining operations 

(refer ASX announcement dated 15 Oct 2018). 

Study Results 

The results from this high-level pit optimisation study are highly encouraging, for both the Kangaroo 

Bore and Blue Peter deposits and provide the Company with significant confidence moving forwards. 

Nested pit shells were generated at varying metal prices and evaluated at the base case metal price. 

The optimal outcome was shown as being Pit shell 31 in all cases. This shell was selected as the basis 

for pit design for both the Blue Peter and the Kangaroo Bore deposits.  

Pit shell 31 returned the optimal outcome when scheduled, but there is potential for a smaller pit shell 

to provide a stronger positive outcome.  

An isometric view of the optimal pit shell and the inferred mineral resource model is shown in Figure 4 

and 5  

 

Figure 4: Mt Celia Gold Project – Isometric View of the Kangaroo Bore optimised pit. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

 

Figure 5: Mt Celia Gold Project – Isometric View of the Blue Peter optimised pit. 

 
Infill drilling at Kangaroo Bore 

 

Encouraged by the pit optimisation results, approximately 2,200 m of RC drilling (21 drill holes) was 

completed at Kangaroo Bore deposit in Oct 2018 (Figure 8 and 9). 

 

The drilling was designed to achieve the following: 

• To demonstrate continuity of mineralisation with a specific focus on shallow mineralisation 

within the optimised pit boundary via infill of existing drilling. 

• To test for depth extensions to mineralisation beyond modelled limits (Figure 6 & 7). 

Resource studies completed to date have highlighted numerous areas where mineralisation remains 

open both along strike as well as at depth and this drilling was planned to test several of those areas. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

 

Figure 6: Drilling completed at Kangaroo Bore in October 2018. The cross-section line A-A’ is shown in 
Figure 6. 

  

Figure 7: Oblique view of the Kangaroo Bore resource (red) with planned drill holes (orange) and existing 
drilling (blue) and the optimised pit design 

 
An initial review shows that these results largely support the existing interpretation for the deposit as 
well as confirms down-dip continuity of the mineralisation in the southeast beyond the modelled limits, 
with holes KBC040 and KBC043 ending in mineralisation. This further highlights the potential for 
continuity of mineralisation at depth. 

A 

A’ 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

 

Figure 8: Cross-section showing KBC043 with previous drilling and modelled resource (red) 

The overall thickness of the deposit in this area can be shown by aggregated intercepts of the drill 
results in KBC033 and KBC041. These holes are located within the centre of the deposit where drilling 
density is highest (refer ASX announcement dated 22 January 2019).  

 

Figure 9: Cross-section showing KBC033 with previous drilling and the modelled resource (red polygon) 

B B’ KBC043 

KBC033 
A A’ 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

These include: 

• Aggregated intercept of 42 m at 1.54 g/t Au from 84 m in KBC033, containing multiple 

mineralised intersections 

o 12 m at 2.29 g/t Au from 84 m 

o 3 m at 1.19 g/t Au from 102 

o 7 m at 1.72 g/t Au, and 

o 2 m at 7.21 g/t Au from 123 m 

• Aggregated intercept of 55 m at 1.09 g/t Au from 136 m in KBC041, containing 

o 8 m at 2.25 g/t Au from 136 m, and 

o 6 m at 1.59 g/t Au from 185 m. 

 

In the northwest, where drilling is wider-spaced and mineralisation is less constrained, three drill holes 

were planned to test the potential for additional mineralised lodes. This was demonstrated in KBC023, 

which recorded three intersections of gold anomalism, however further drilling is required to understand 

the continuity along strike. 

A full list of all significant results (≥0.5 g/t) and all values of the aggregated intercepts has been included 

in the ASX announcement on 22 January 2019 and 26 February 2019. 

There remains significant potential to define additional mineralisation at Kangaroo Bore, particularly at 

depth, where the northwest section of the deposit has not yet been sufficiently tested (Figure10). 

 

Figure 10: Drill hole depths at Kangaroo Bore. The deepest drilling is in the southeast of the deposit, 
whereas few holes exceed 150 m depth in the northwest. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

These drilling results provide further data to support the positive pit optimisation study (see ASX 

announcement dated 15 October 2018) which demonstrated a strong case for further resource 

enhancement at Mt Celia. 

 

Additionally, numerous early stage targets have been identified with potential for subparallel 
mineralisation within 100 m of the Kangaroo Bore resource. These are planned to be tested in future 
programs as well. 

Detailed interpretation and geological modelling of the Kangaroo Bore deposit are underway. Legacy 

Iron plans to continue progressing the Mt Celia Project in 2019 via additional RC infill drilling and 

diamond drilling for metallurgical purposes to support an updated resource estimate. 

 
Drill testing of priority early stage exploration targets/anomalies  

In the past few years’, the major focus of exploration at Mt Celia has been on the Kangaroo Bore and 

Blue Peter resource definition work with a very little drilling conducted on any of the other anomalies 

and prospects identified/present in the project. During this year approximately 1,500 m of RC drilling 

was also completed in 20 holes (refer ASX announcement of 16/06/2018) to test the numerous early 

stage exploration targets/anomalies present with in the Mt Celia project (Figure 11). 

The positive results from this drilling program have identified numerous additional targets which provide 

the potential for a further expansion of the current resource base for the project subject to the continued 

success in the additional follow-up drilling (refer ASX announcement of 16 June 2018).  

 

Figure 11: Mt Celia Project- Aerial image showing drill hole locations 

 

 

 

Kangaroo Bore Deposit: Inferred 

resource of 2.8 Mt @ 1.47 g/t Au (COG 

0.7 g/t) 

 

Blue Peter: Inferred resource of   

607.2Kt @ 2.62 g/t Au (COG 1.0 

g/t) 

 



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2019 

Page 12 

 

OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

 

Mainly the program was aimed to test the strike continuity of the Margot’s Find prospect in NW direction, 

test the potential for a depth continuity at Enigma, Bitter End and Travellers Joy prospects and test some 

of the priority early-stage geochemical anomalies in western and south-western parts of the tenement. 

The locations of the drill holes are as shown in Figure 11.  

Approximately 70% of the drill holes during this program were planned to test the surface geochemical 

anomalies identified from historical auger sampling and RAB drilling and the remaining drill holes (six) 

were used to test the depth extension of the old prospects.  

Drill holes which were planned to test the northern extension of the Margot’s Find prospect confirmed 
the potential for an additional 200 m of strike length in a NW direction (drill holes MC 10 and 11). Drill 
holes at Bitter End and Travellers Joy prospects have shown positive intersections potentially confirming 
the continuity of mineralisation at depth (drill holes MC12 & MC15).  

A weak gold anomalism (up to 2.4g/t for 2 m interval) associated with quartz veins or prospective 
lithological contacts has been noted in most of the drill holes which were targeting the soil/RAB 
anomalies. Further exploration drilling is required to effectively evaluate the continuity of these 
anomalies (refer ASX announcement on 16/06/2018). 

 

Future Plan:  

• Complete RC and diamond drilling in the project as discussed above. 

• Update the geology and resource models to assist with upgrading the resource classification for 

both the orebodies in the Mt Celia project. Kangaroo Bore orebody is likely to be the first project 

to upgrade given that a significant amount of RC and DD drilling has already been done and 

been considered in the current estimates.  

• Plan the follow-up on other targets present in the Mt Celia Project tenement.  

 

Yilgangi Project 

As discussed in the other parts of this report, the Yilgangi project forms part of Legacy Iron’s South 

Laverton Gold Project which includes Mt Celia, Yilgangi, Yerilla, Patricia North and Sunrise Bore 

tenements (Figure 2).  

The Yilgangi Project includes two exploration tenements (E31/1019 and E31/1020) and two mining 

leases (M31/426 and M31/427) and contains numerous gold occurrence/anomalies including the 

Golden Rainbow prospect where a number of drill holes have been completed and the gold 

mineralisation has been tested up to a shallow depth only. 

Geologically the project lies within a sedimentary basin containing coarse clastic rocks which lies 

immediately east of the Yilgangi Fault and unconformably overlies greenstones of the Mulgabbie 

Terrane. The sedimentary rocks have been interpreted as a thick sequence of interlayered felsic flows 

and polymictic conglomerate. The metamorphosed polymictic conglomerate, wacke, and quartzo-

feldspathic sandstone and siltstone within the sedimentary basin have been tightly folded. Much of the 

project area is covered by recent alluvial and transported material with salt pans and lakes of the Lake 

Raeside system present to the north (Figure 12). 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

 

 

Figure 12: Planned drill holes at Yilgangi Project with GSWA 1:100,000 surface geology 

 

Previous exploration has consisted of surface soil sampling, RAB drilling and wide-spaced RC drilling 

with a main focus around the old workings of Golden Rainbow prospect. 

Approximately 350m of RC drilling in 4 drill holes across Golden Rainbow deposit were completed in 

October 2018 (Figure). Drill holes were planned to test for down-dip continuity of previously identified 

mineralisation, and they will also be used as part of a quality assurance assessment of historical drilling. 

This program aligns with the Company’s strategy to upgrade previously reported historical resources to 

the 2012 JORC reporting code, with a view to adding additional resources to the current inventory. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

 

 

Figure 13:  RC drill holes completed at Yilgangi in October 2018 on magnetic data 

 

Results of this drilling confirmed anomalous gold values at the expected depths, however the grades 

did not replicate those of previous explorers. For QAQC purposes these results are considered 

inconclusive and further drilling is required to determine the variability and nature of the mineralisation 

and to further assess previous results. 

Best intersections from the drilling include: 

• 2 m at 1.73 g/t Au from 63 m in GRC011 

• 1 m at 0.98 g/t Au from 48 m in GRC014. 

During the quarter a comprehensive soil sampling program was completed across the project’s two 

underexplored Exploration Licences, E31/1019 and E31/1020. These lie to the north and south of 

Golden Rainbow deposit along the interpreted strike of mineralised structures. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

A total of 485 samples were collected which have been collated with earlier work from 2018 to form a 

dataset of 743 samples. Samples were analysed using Mobile Metal Ion (MMI) method, a proprietary 

technology owned by SGS that is designed to test for mineralisation below surface cover. 

Results show several northwest-striking gold anomalies occurring along the same trend as other 

regional gold occurrences and regional geological strike (Figure 14). 

 

Figure 14: Priority areas for follow-up exploration based on soil sampling results 

 

The strongest anomalies occur over Golden Rainbow deposit in M31/426 and M31/427 and in the 

southern extents of both E31/1019 and E31/1020. In the north, a broad anomaly measures 800 m along 

strike with a width of up to 200 m. A number of small workings and shallow pits have been observed 

along the main mineralised trend, however these remain largely untested at depth with only shallow  
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

 

RAB drilling and five RC holes conducted by previous explorers that tested a small portion of the 

anomalous strike extent. Legacy Iron considers that these areas were inadequately tested by previous 

explorers due to the lack of drilling within bedrock. 

In the far north of E31/1020 a moderate gold anomaly coincides with one shallow pit exposing a quartz 

vein. Previous rock chip sampling from this location returned values up to 59 g/t Au and this is considered 

a high-priority area for further exploration. 

In the south (E31/1019) no workings were observed within the strongest anomaly which has not been 

previously tested by RC drilling. This has been identified as a high priority area for follow-up work. 

Future Plan 

• Interpretation and evaluation of Golden Rainbow RC drilling and assessment of QAQC 

• Drill-test high priority targets identified through soil sampling. 

 

Yerilla Project 

Yerilla is part of the South Laverton Gold Project and comprises three Mining Leases (M31/107, 

M31/229 and M31/230). Murrin Murrin Holdings Pty Ltd and Glenmurrin Pty Ltd are the registered 

holders of the leases; Legacy Iron holds 90% of the rights for precious metals on the tenements (Figure 

2). 

Yerilla project lies within the Kurnalpi Terrane of the Eastern Goldfields Superterrane. Outcropping 

geology comprises a sequence of northwest-striking mafic volcanics, ultramafic rocks and felsic 

volcanics variably intruded by the McAuliffe Well Syenite.  

The project hosts known gold mineralisation at the Bull Terrier deposit related to a sub-vertical NNE-

striking brittle fault zone in the McAuliffe Well Syenite. Mineralisation is characterised by hematite 

alteration with the addition of biotite, calcite and pyrite.  

Legacy Iron plans to update the resource estimate at Bull Terrier in accordance with JORC 2012 

standards. Work completed during the period aligned with this strategy and consisted of field verification 

of drill collar locations and rock chip sampling. 

Future Plan 

• RC drilling for QAQC purposes 

• Upgrade resource estimate to JORC 2012 standards. 

 

Sunrise Bore Project 

The Sunrise Bore project lies some 12 km east of the world class Sunrise Dam gold mine operated by 

AngloGold Ashanti (Figure 9).  A number of prospective shear structures have been identified within the 

project area associated either with gold anomalism noted in earlier field work and/or nugget gold found 

by recent prospecting. 

During the reporting period, a detailed review and interpretation of all the available geophysical data 

commenced. Newexco Services Pty Ltd were engaged to process the datasets and assist with the 

interpretations. Initial field reconnaissance of identified features of interest was carried out with 

numerous rock chip samples collected.  In addition, access tracks are being upgraded in preparation for 

drill-testing high priority targets identified through previous auger sampling campaigns (Figure  15). 

 

 
 
 



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2019 

Page 17 

 

OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

 

 

Figure 15: Sunrise Bore auger sampling results to date 

 
Future Plan 

• Continue and complete the proposed follow up work on the anomalies identified from auger 

sampling.  

• Drill test the anomalies identified to date. 

• Given the Sunrise Bore project is a large tenement, some additional work including regional 

geochemical sampling, mapping and geophysical survey will also be undertaken over other 

areas of the tenement. 

 

GOLD/BASEMETALS – EAST KIMBERLEY 
 

The East Kimberley Project is located in the Halls Creek area, 350 km south of Kununurra and is readily 

accessible via the Great Northern Highway. The project comprises Koongie Park tenement and the 

newly granted Sophie Downs, Ruby Plains and Taylor Lookout leases with a total exploration footprint 

of 237 sq km. (Figure 16). 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

 
 

Figure 16: East Kimberley Project 
 

Legacy Iron’s East Kimberley tenements lie within the Lamboo Province of the Halls Creek Orogen 

which hosts significant resource projects including the Sandiego, Atlantis and Onedin base metals 

deposits as well as the Nicholson’s Gold Project (Pantoro) and the Brockman REE deposit (Hastings 

Technology Metals).  

GSWA records also show numerous surface occurrences of tungsten mineralisation within the newly 

granted leases associated with potential skarn-type alteration which have not been systematically 

evaluated and explored.  

 
Koongie Park Project 
 
Legacy Iron holds exploration licence E80/4221 that is contiguous with ground under exploration by 

Anglo Australian Resources Limited (AAR) at its Koongie Park VHMS base metals deposit. AAR has 

defined substantial base metal/gold/silver mineralisation in two deposits to date, with a total JORC 

resource (Indicated and Inferred) of 8Mt at 3.3% zinc, 1.2% copper, 0.3g/t gold and 23g/t silver. AAR 

has also outlined a shallow supergene high grade copper resource. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

The style of mineralisation (VHMS) is similar to that found at Sandfire Resources’ Doolgunna and Monty 

discoveries and at the Teutonic Bore/Jaguar/Bentley deposits of Independence Group. This style of 

deposit is known worldwide to occur in clusters and often the early discoveries in these camps are not 

the largest. 

Work completed until this reporting period, has successfully identified a number of base metals and rare 

earth elements (REE) anomalies in the project area and at a few places oxidised/gossanous outcrops 

for base metals (with Zn values ranging from 50 ppm to 2000 ppm) and rocks enriched in rare earth 

minerals (Total of all REE =2337 ppm and 1515ppm in Rock chip sample) – refer ASX announcement 

dated 31 October 2018. 

Recent work (current reporting period) completed has included follow-up soil sampling consisting of 350 

samples, geological traversing and rock chip sampling within a high-priority REE geochemical anomaly 

defined by auger drilling. This program was designed to constrain the location and extents of the 

anomaly. 

This infill soil sampling on a 50 mE x 40 mN grid spacing has successfully confirmed a 1 km long x 300 

m wide anomaly of REE (Figure 17 and ASX announcement of 31 Oct 2018).  

This anomaly is particularly anomalous for heavy REE (HREE). These include terbium (Tb), dysprosium 

(Dy), holmium (Ho), erbium (Er), thulium (Tm), ytterbium (Yb) and lutetium (Lu). Yttrium (Y) is included 

in the HREE group due to its similar chemical properties. 

 

 

Figure 17: Y ppm from the Infill Soil Samples  



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2019 

Page 20 

 

OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

Outcrop in the area is limited, however samples of subcropping lithologies have also been collected that 

are highly anomalous in REE, with results of up to 0.1% Y and total REE of 0.24%. These results give 

encouragement for further exploration in this area.  

Legacy Iron plans to further explore this prospect by testing the potential for REE enrichment at depth 

through reconnaissance drill-testing. 

Legacy Iron also completed traversing throughout the lease, across several historical anomalies (Figure 

18). The brief description of the targets and work completed in this latest round has been discussed in 

the ASX announcement on 31 Oct 2018 and 30 Jan 2019.   

 
Figure 18: Koongie Park project follow-up work areas 

 
Initial review of the results suggests that the targets REE1, Hanging Tree East, Angelo Valley and 

Michelangelo further work is required to determine the potential of the anomalies identified. 

• REE1 – soil sampling results have confirmed a low-magnitude anomaly approximately 1 km 

long and 300 m wide with a peak TREO value of 539 ppm. Numerous rock chip samples were 

also collected in an effort to identify the source of the REE-bearing lithology and to collect 

samples suitable for petrographic analysis. Two samples were identified with highly anomalous 

REE values. 

 
 

GOLD 

REE 

BASE 

METALS 
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• Hanging Tree East (part of Jillaroo Arc) – abundant quartz veining, brecciation and sporadic 

tourmalinite were also recorded, all of which is indicative of metasomatic alteration within a 

subvolcanic environment. No anomalous base metals results received from the 12 rock chip 

samples, but stratigraphy remains prospective for VHMS deposits. Future work will be targeted 

through geophysical interpretations. 

 

• Angelo Valley (base metal)– several highly anomalous base metals results are interpreted to 

be fault-related (abundant malachite staining present in the area). The significance of these 

results is planned to be determined assessment of historical IP geophysics, project-wide 

geophysics data (EM data) to assess potential. 

 

• Michelangelo (gold) – results of historical exploration are encouraging (Au >1 ppm). Work 

completed by Legacy confirms the gold anomalism, and the area remains prospective for 

shear-hosted gold mineralisation. Prospect-scale structural interpretation and drill testing the 

priority targets has been planned as next step for the prospect. 

 

• No further work is proposed for the targets Big Mac and REE 2. 

 
New Tenements 
 
During the quarter a comprehensive data review was completed for each of Legacy Iron’s newly granted 

tenements in the Kimberley: Sophie Downs, Taylor Lookout and Ruby Plains. This has revealed multiple 

target areas prospective for base metals, gold, tungsten and REEs that have not been adequately tested 

by previous explorers. 

The Company plans to conduct field assessments of the high priority areas in the coming months and 

to complete interpretations of geophysical data to aid targeting for drill-testing. 

A high-level overview of these tenements is provided below. 

Sophie Downs 

Sophie Downs tenement (E80/5067) is located east of the Great Northern Highway, 20 km from Hall 

Creek. The lease is located to the east of a significant granitoid, the Sophie Downs Dome (pink in Figure 

19) and is considered prospective for multiple styles of mineralisation. 

This large tenement has not been systematically or coherently explored and has numerous recorded 

occurrences of base metals, REE and gold. Tungsten mineralisation has been identified within the lease 

and is interpreted to be related to the Sophie Downs granite. No follow-up work has yet been completed 

to evaluate these occurrences. 
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Figure 19: GSWA 100k geology and Minedex occurrences and prospects at Sophie Downs 

 

Taylor Lookout 

Taylor Lookout tenement (E80/5066) is located south of the Great Northern Highway, 80 km 

southwest of Halls Creek. The dominant geological feature of the lease is the Taylor Lookout 

anticline which is a regionally significant fault that has thrust metavolcanics and granites onto 

sandstones of the Olympio Formation (Figure 20). 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

Previous exploration has identified scheelite at surface grading up to 2% W within calcareous 

metasedimemts, supporting the potential for skarn-hosted mineralisation. There has been no 

significant drill-testing of these anomalies to date. In addition, a number of other surface anomalies 

have been identified, including for copper and gold, which require more detailed follow-up. 

 

 

Figure 20: Taylor Lookout geology and mineral occurrences. Granites and metavolcanics are 
represented by pink colours, metasediments by brown polygons. 

Ruby Plains 

Ruby Plains tenement (E80/5068) is located along the Tanami Road, 30 km from Halls Creek. The 

geology is dominated by metavolcanics and metasediments of the Biscay Formation. Previous 

explorers have identified discrete scheelite occurrences within mafic volcanics related to 

hydrothermal metamorphism. No systematic exploration for tungsten has been conducted since the 

1980s and no significant drill-testing of any occurrences has been completed. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 

 

Figure 21: Ruby Plains geology and mineral occurrences. Ruby Plains is dominated by 
metasediments (brown) intruded by dolerites (green). 

 
 

Future Plan: 

• Revised interpretation of the available geophysical, other remote sensing and geochemical data 

sets. 

• Follow-up by ground geophysics if required and drill testing. 

• Field reconnaissance of prospective areas highlighted by the data review in the newly granted 

tenements. 
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IRON ORE and NICKEL-COPPER 
 

Mt Bevan Project 

 

The Mt Bevan Project is a Joint Venture Agreement between Legacy Iron and Hawthorn Resources 

Limited (Hawthorn). Legacy Iron completed its earn-in of a 60% interest in the project by expending 

more than $3.5 million on exploration. The project is a large tenement which hosts 1,170 Mt of magnetite 

resource @ 34.9% Fe (refer Table 2) as well as potential for discovery of nickel–copper mineralisation 

in northern parts of the tenement. 
 

During the reporting period the major field focus for the Mt Bevan project has been on defining early 

stage nickel exploration targets for first pass drill testing. 

 

Mt Bevan Iron Ore 
 

Mt Bevan is considered to hold excellent potential for the definition of major magnetite resources located 

relatively close to existing road, rail and port facilities. The project also has potential for DSO hematite 

discoveries. 

 

Successful exploration and resource definition program carried out now underpins the potential for a 

large-scale development at Mt Bevan (refer Table 2 for the current resource estimate and Figure 22 for 

a representative cross section). Legacy Iron continues to work with its 40% JV partner, Hawthorn, 

regarding the scope, timing and funding of further phases for the project. 

 

 

Figure 22: Drilling Cross Section - Lines  

 



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2019 

Page 26 

 

OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

 
Table 2: Mt Bevan Resource Estimate 

*In situ Magnetic is the material that is expected to report to the magnetic fraction.  The in situ Magnetic quantities in the Tonnes 

column are expressed as the percentage of the in situ Total tonnes (as estimated from Davis Tube Mass recovery). - See 

ASX Announcements from 12/11/2014.  

(Full details of the project are available at the Company website www.legacyiron.com.au) 

 

For the purpose of ASX listing rule 5.21, the Company has undertaken a review of the above resources 

for the Mt Bevan project, by examining the historical data in the current market environment. There has 

been no basis for concluding any material change to the resource total or category of resources shown 

in the above table.    

 

Also, from the work to date the joint venture has successfully identified multiple targets for DSO iron ore 

mineralisation in the tenement, particularly at Mt Mason North, where a hematite resource (DSO) lies 

across the tenement boundary. Several geological mapping traverses were made in the area (Mt Mason 

and Eastern BIFs) during the past years and a large number of rock chip samples were collected for 

geochemical analysis to support the delineation of some drill targets. 

 

There are still substantial areas of the Mezzo/Eastern BIF to be mapped and sampled. It is planned to 

continue the mapping/sampling program over the Eastern/Mezzo BIF in the coming year once approved 

by the Joint Venture. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mt Bevan Fresh BIF Resource  

Class  Material  
Tonnes Fe SiO2 Al2O3 CaO P S LOI MgO Mn 

x 106 % % % % % % % % % 

Indicated 

In situ Total 322 34.7 46.2 0.57 1.35 0.054 0.131 -1.05 1.91 0.31 

In situ 
Magnetic* 

44.18% 30.0 2.4 0.01 0.08 0.005 0.053 -1.38 0.05 0.01 

Concentrate 142 68.0 5.5 0.02 0.18 0.012 0.130 -3.12 0.12 0.03 

Inferred 

In situ Total 847 35.0 45.6 0.77 2.00 0.063 0.39 -1.15 1.77 0.04 

In situ 
Magnetic* 

45.70% 30.8 2.8 0.01 0.06 0.004 0.042 -1.37 0.03 0.01 

Concentrate 387 67.5 5.9 0.03 0.14 0.009 0.096 -3.00 0.06 0.02 

Total 

In situ Total 1,170 34.9 45.8 0.71 1.82 0.060 0.137 -1.12 1.81 0.11 

In situ 
Magnetic* 

45.28% 30.6 2.7 0.01 0.07 0.004 0.045 -1.37 0.03 0.01 

Concentrate 530 67.7 5.80 0.03 0.15 0.010 0.105 -3.03 0.07 0.02 

http://www.legacyiron.com.au/


LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2019 

Page 27 

 

OPERATIONS REPORT (continued) 
 

 

 
 

Figure 23: Location of historical field program              Figure 24: Sample locations from previous year’s 
field program – assays 

 
Mt Bevan Nickel and Copper – 
 

The Mt Bevan Project is located immediately south of St George Mining Limited’s (ASX: SGQ) Mt 

Alexander Project (Figure 25). St George Mining has had significant success identifying nickel-copper 

sulphide mineralisation at Cathedrals, Stricklands and Investigators along the Cathedrals Shear zone 

(refer to St George Mining Limited ASX announcements). 
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Figure 25: Mt Bevan Project – airborne magnetics data (TMI) showing area of interest for nickel sulphide 
mineralisation 

 

In the recent past, following an initial prospectivity assessment, the Company completed both ground 

geophysics and auger geochemistry in the northernmost part of the tenement and delineated numerous 

early-stage nickel sulphide mineralisation targets for drill testing (refer ASX announcement on 

30/04/2018).  

A total of seven early stage targets/anomalies were identified using integrated analysis of ground 

magnetics, structural interpretations, Moving Loop Electromagnetic (MLEM) data and auger 

geochemical sampling (Figure 26 and Figure 27). 

This area is almost completely concealed by recent alluvium and colluvium cover.  
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A first-pass drill program of 13 holes for 1,032m (Figure 27) was completed during the year which was 

designed to test four of the seven identified anomalies and see that these early stage targets can further 

be upgraded.  

Remaining targets in the northern part of the current area of are likely to be drill tested in the coming 

months. 

Mafic lithologies have been identified in the drill holes MBC1101 to MBC1103 with trace visible sulphides 

in two of the holes (Figure 27 and 28 and ASX announcement 4 Oct2018).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 27: Auger geochemistry (Ni ppm) and 
MLEM Slingram CH25 with structural 
interpretation lines 

Figure 26: Merged ground and regional 
TMI magnetics with structural 
interpretations 

All the three 
holes 

intersected 

mafic rocks 
with trace 

amount visible 
sulphides.  
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Figure 28: Interpreted geology from the drilling data across the target where mafic lithology was 
intersected  

 

Assay results for the program were received and interpreted during this quarter and no 

significant/anomalous nickel-copper values were returned (refer ASX announcement of 4 Oct 2018).  

All the RC drill samples (from the intervals selected based on geological logging) were analysed at SGS 

Lab Perth and Newexco was engaged for supervising data collection and interpretation for down hole 

EM data. 

In total eight drill holes were surveyed using the down hole EM (DHEM) see Figure 29.  

 
 

Figure 29: Plan view shows the drill holes and DHEM loops (blue squares) 
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The DHEM surveys were carried out using a Digi Atlantis (B-field) system operating at 95amps into a 

200x200m loop. The data quality is good considering vertical holes and resistive rocks. However, some 

of the readings were quite noisy particularly on the radial (Bu and Bv) component data due to the vertical 

holes (DHEM probe moves (rotate) in the vertical holes that makes noisy data).  

No DHEM survey was carried out in Hole MBC1101 due to the blockage at 4.8m. Holes MBC1104 and 

MBC1110 were blocked at 45.8m (EOH was 90m) and 41.5m (EOH was 60m) respectively and 

surveyed to those depths.  

No anomalous response consistent with confined bedrock conductive source have been identified 

however, a weak response was observed at early times (0.2ms to 9.7ms) at downhole depth centred at 

40m in Hole MBC1106, see Figure 8. This weak anomalous response is interpreted to be sourced by 

geological noise such as sharp contact/shear zone at this stage.  

 

 
Figure 30: BMC1106 DHEM linear early times profiles CH6-CH10 (0.2ms to 0.7ms). 
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A strong response was observed on the top section (0m to 20m) of all holes surveyed. This strong 

response is interpreted to be caused by the transmitter loop.  

Forward models were erected to see whether this DHEM survey could have detected a similar conductor 

to the Cathedrals style conductor (~25mx25m, 10000 Siemens with a flat lying target). The forward 

model response shows that this DHEM survey could have detected a similar target in close proximity to 

the drill hole (50m radius from drill hole). 

In the next few months, the Company plans to drill test the remaining targets in the north of the tenement. 

 

Future Plan: 

• Drill test remaining targets in northern most part. 

• Geological mapping and sampling for remaining two target areas and if required some ground 

geophysics. 

• Continue exploration (mapping/sampling) for shallow DSO iron ore mineralisation on tenement 

and identify drill targets. 

 

 
Competent Person’s Statement: 
 
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Bhupendra Dashora who is a member of 
AusIMM and an employee of Legacy Iron Ore Limited.  Mr.Dashora  has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and 
type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of 
the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves“.  Mr. Dashora consents to the inclusion in this 
report of the matters based on his information in the form and the context in which it appears. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The Directors present their report on the performance of the Company for the year ended 31 March 
2019. 
 
1. DIRECTORS 
 

The names of Directors in office during the whole of the year and up to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated: 
 
Mr N.B. Kumar (Non-Executive Chairman appointed 8 July 2018) 
Mr Rakesh Gupta (Chief Executive Officer) 
Mr Devanathan Ramachandran (Non-Executive Director)  
Mr Amitava Muhkerjee (Non-executive Director appointed 12 March 2019) 
Mr Alok Kumar Metha (Non-executive Director appointed 17 June 2019) 
Dr Narendra Kumar Nanda (Non-Executive Chairman resigned 12 March 2019)  
Mr Devinder Singh Ahluwalia (Non-Executive Director resigned 2 May 2018) 
Dr Tanugula Rama Kishan Rao (Non-executive Director resigned 1 June 2019)  
  
2. COMPANY SECRETARY 
 

Mr Benjamin Donovan holds the position of Company Secretary. 
 
3. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activities of the Company during the year were the exploration and evaluation of the 
Company’s iron ore, base metal, tungsten and gold assets.  
 
4. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
During the year the Company continued to explore its projects at a reduced rate with a focus on 
maintaining a disciplined approach to exploration. 
 
The Company has a comfortable financial position as at 31 March 2019. With the capital raising plans 
during 2019-20 it is being ensured that adequate funds will be on hand to cover the funding requirements 
for the next 2-3 years. The Company remains solvent and adequately funded for its operations in the 
medium term. 
 
5. OPERATING RESULTS 
 
The Company incurred a loss after income tax of $ 816,502 for the year ended 31 March 2019                  
(31 March 2018: Loss of $ 882,506). This lower loss is a result of cost savings in all the areas of working. 

 
The Company had cash funds on hand of $ 1,439,773 at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: $3,152,245).   
 
6. DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED 
 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared 
by way of a dividend to the date of this report. 
 
7. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
Other than the matters outlined in Section 4 above, no significant changes in the Company’s state of 
affairs occurred during the financial year. 
 
8. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS 
 
Other than what has been reported above, there are no other matters or circumstance that have arisen 
since 31 March 2019 that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 
 
(a) the Company’s operations in the future financial years; or 
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years; or 
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 (c) the Company’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
 
9. FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 
 
The Company will continue its mineral exploration activity on its exploration projects with the object of 
identifying commercial resources. The main area of focus will be the ongoing development of the existing 
projects of the Company. The Company continues to look for promising projects for acquisition and 
further development towards mining. 
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10. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Mr. N.B. Kumar 
 

Non-Executive Chairman  
 

Qualifications Master of Science in zoology and Master of Philosophy on environmental 
science. 
 

Experience 
 

Mr Kumar is the recently appointed Chairman-cum-Managing Director of 
NMDC Limited on 8 July 2018. 
 
Mr Kumar has over 35 years of experience in administrative roles in state 
and central government as an Indian Administrative Service (IAS) officer 
of 1985 batch. 
 
Prior to joining NMDC, he has been the Additional Chief Secretary to the 
Chief Minister, Chhattisgarh, as well as the Commerce & Industries and 
Energy Departments in the Chhattisgarh government. He has also held 
positions of Collector and District Magistrate, Principal Secretary, and 
headed the Administration of the All India Institute of Medical Sciences 
(AIIMS) New Delhi, and was the Chairman of Naya Raipur Development 
Authority (NRDA) and Chhattisgarh Housing Board (CGHB). 
 
Mr Kumar’s experience spans administration, public relations, information 
and broadcasting at the state and central government levels of Indian 
Government and he was instrumental in streamlining large scale projects 
for the Chhattisgarh government. 
 
 

Other Directorships 
 

NMDC Limited in the last 3 years 

 
Interest in Shares and 
Options 

 
NIL. 

 
 

Special Responsibilities Member and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
 
 
Mr Rakesh Gupta Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer 

 
Qualifications Mr Gupta is an experienced mining engineer with a high level of engineering 

and project management skills acquired within both national and 
international settings and various commodities and sizes. 
 

  
Experience 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

From 2011 to prior to joining the Company, Mr Gupta worked at BHP Billiton 
Iron Ore in mine planning, and has performed a key role in future mine 
strategic replacement projects and in the development of the life of asset 
plans for corporate alignment process, including being responsible for 
framing the case scenarios and development of the current and future iron 
ore mine plans. 
 
Mr Gupta also brings with him significant skills in pre-feasibility and feasibility 
studies, having worked at AMEC Minproc and SRK Consulting for several 
years, including assisting FMG (Iron ore Project) in the preparation of its long 
term strategic mine plan for the Chichester 90 mtpa (Cloudbreak and 
Christmas Creek operation), and he also worked for Barrick Gold, Australia 
for a brief period. 
 
From 2003 to 2006 he served Ararat Gold Recovery Company, Armenia as 
a Technical Services Manager. 
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10.  INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY (continued) 
 
Other Directorships Nil in the last 3 years. 

 
Interest in Shares and 
Options 

483,762 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares  
 

  
Special Responsibilities Member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee. 
 
Mr Devanathan 
Ramachandran  

 
Non-Executive Director  

  
Qualifications Master of Business Administration, Australian Graduate School of 

Management, Sydney; a Master of Science, Virginia Polytechnic Institute & 
State University, USA; and a Bachelor of Technology (Honours), Indian 
Institute of Technology, India. 

  
Experience Mr Ramachandran has approximately 30 years of wide-ranging experience 

in global mining and fertilizer industries.  He has acquired hands-on business 
expertise across a variety of mineral commodities and cultures working in 
corporate, technical and operational roles in global leaders such as BHP 
Billiton, Rio Tinto and Vale. 
 
Holding extensive business development experience ranging from 
identification and evaluation of investment opportunities through due 
diligence and post-merger integration, Mr Ramachandran has a proven track 
record in large investments in mining and fertilizer industries often with 
significant rail, port, power and other infrastructure. 

 
Other Directorships 

 
NIL in the last 3 years. 

  
Interest in Shares and 
Options 

NIL 

 
Special Responsibilities 

 
Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.  

 
 
Mr Amitava Mukherjee  
 

 
Non-Executive Director  

Qualifications Cost Accountant and Master of Commerce Degree from Guru Ghasi Das 
University, Bilaspur 

  
Experience Shri Amitava Mukherjee currently serves as the Director (Finance) of NMDC 

Limited. 
 
Shri Mukherjee is an accountant holding a Master of Commerce Degree from 
Guru Ghasi Das University, Bilaspur, and belongs to the 1995 batch of Indian 
Railway Accounts Services (IRAS). 
  
Prior to joining NMDC as finance director, he held the post of General 
Manager (Finance) in Rail Vikas Nigam Limited (RVNL) for approximately 3 
years. During his tenure in IRAS, he held various key positions in the Eastern 
Railways from 1997 to 2016.  
 
He has also worked in Indian Oil Corporation Limited as Accounts Officer 
from 1994-1997. He was also nominated by Railway Board to various Task 
Groups for Centralised Applications of Finance & Accounts department of 
Indian Railways. 
. 
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Other Directorships 

 
NMDC Limited. 

  
Interest in Shares and 
Options 

NIL.  

  
Special Responsibilities Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and a Member of the 

Nomination Committee. 
 

  
Mr Alok Kumar Metha  
 

Non-Executive Director  

  
Qualifications Mr Metha is a Graduate in Mechanical Engineering from NIT Raipur. 
  
Experience Mr Mehta currently serves as the Director (Commercial) of NMDC Limited 

with responsibilities including the commissioning of the 3.0 MTpa Steel Plant 
at Nagarnar. 
 
Mr Mehta graduated from NIT Raipur in mechanical engineering and has in 
excess of 35 years of experience in the areas of iron ore mining, iron & steel 
production and the copper Industry, with experience gained from within India 
and abroad. 
 
He began his career in India in 1983 with Hindustan Copper Limited before 
joining Saurastra Chemical, Porbander in 1993. 
 
Mr Mehta has worked for Aditya Birla group at Birla Copper Dahej and has 
also significant experience in Australia in 2003 having been responsible for 
the construction of the Mount Garden Plant situated in Queensland, 
Australia.  
 
Prior to taking over as Director (Commercial) of NMDC Ltd, he was 
responsible for the execution of all the engineering, contracts and project 
activities of NMDC as an Executive Director. He is also in the Board of three 
subsidiary companies and one Joint Venture company of NMDC. 
. 

 
Other Directorships 

 
NMDC Limited, J&K Mineral Development Corporation Ltd, NMDC Power 
Ltd, NMDC Steel Ltd, Bastar Railway Pvt. Ltd 

  
Interest in Shares and 
Options 

NIL.  

  
Special Responsibilities N/a. 
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11. 10.  INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY (continued) 
 

Benjamin Donovan Company Secretary  
 

Qualifications B.Comm (Hons) 
 

Experience 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr Donovan is a member of Chartered Secretaries Australia and 
provides corporate advisory and consultancy services to a number 
of companies.  
 
Mr Donovan is currently a Director and Company Secretary of 
several ASX listed and public unlisted companies, and has 
extensive experience in listing rules, compliance and corporate 
governance, having served as a Senior Adviser at the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX) in Perth, including as a member of the 
ASX JORC Committee. 
 
In addition, Mr Donovan has experience in the capital markets 
having raised capital and assisted numerous companies on 
achieving a listing on ASX, as well as for a period of time, as a 
private client adviser at a boutique stock broking group. 
 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

 
 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 5,008,012 
 

Directorships Nil in Listed or Limited companies. 
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11. REMUNERATION REPORT (audited) 
 
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for the Directors and other key management 
personnel of Legacy Iron Ore Limited. 
 
Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy 
 
The key principle underpinning Non-Executive Director remuneration is the need to attract skilled and 
experienced Directors to direct the current business and into the future. The Board’s policy is to 
periodically review its approach to Non-Executive Director remuneration and seek independent advice 
if needed to ensure its Non-Executive Directors’ fees remain competitive with other similarly sized mining 
exploration companies listed on the ASX. The Board also periodically reviews its policies to ensure 
these are in line with best practice and follow principles of good corporate governance.  
 
Remuneration Consultants 
 
The Company does not engage the services of any remuneration consultants. 
 
Non-Executive Director Fees 
 
Total fees are set within the maximum aggregate amount approved by shareholders at the November 
2011 Annual General Meeting, being in aggregate $500,000. Currently Non-Executive Directors receive 
a fixed fee for their services as a Director and do not receive additional committee fees or other 
payments for additional services. 
 
There is no direct link between remuneration paid to the Non-Executive Directors and corporate 
performance such as bonus payments for achievement of certain key performance indicators. 
 
There are no retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors. 
 
In addition to these fees, Non-Executive Directors are entitled to reimbursement of reasonable travel, 
accommodation and other expenses incurred attending meetings of the Board, committees or 
shareholders, or while engaged on the Company’s business.  
 
It is noted that the Non-Executive Directors appointed by NMDC Limited, (Messrs Kumar, Muhkerjee 
and Rao) have informed the Company to waive their director fees.  
 
The total remuneration paid to, or in respect of, each Non-Executive Director during the financial year is 
set out in this report. 
 
Executive Remuneration Policy 
 
The Company’s Remuneration Policy aims to reward executives fairly and responsibly in accordance 
with the Australian market and ensure that the Company: 
 
• provides competitive rewards that attract, retain and motivate executives of the highest calibre; 
• structures remuneration at a level that reflects the executive’s duties and accountabilities and is 
competitive within Australia; 
• aligns executive incentive rewards with the creation of value for shareholders; and 
• complies with applicable legal requirements and appropriate standards of governance. 
 
Voting and Comments made at the Company’s 2018 Annual General Meeting 
 
The Company received 0.56% of “votes cast as no” votes on its remuneration report for the 2018 
financial year. As result, the Company did not receive its second strike under the 2 strikes policy, and 
the Board was not required to vacate.  
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11. REMUNERATION REPORT (audited) (continued) 
 
Details of Directors and Other Key Management Personnel 
 
(i) Directors 
 Mr Nair Narayanan Baijendra Kumar (Non-Executive Chairman appointed 8 July 2018) 
 Mr Rakesh Gupta – Chief Executive Officer (appointed director 31 August 2017) 
 Mr Devanathan Ramachandran (Non-Executive Director)  
 Mr Amitava Muhkerjee (Non-executive Director appointed 12 March 2019) 
 Mr Alok Kumar Metha (Non-executive Director appointed 17 June 2019) 
 Dr Narendra Kumar Nanda (Non-Executive Chairman resigned 12 March 2019) 
 Dr Tanugula Rama Kishan Rao (Non-executive Director resigned 1 June 2019) 
 Mr Devinder Singh Ahluwalia (Non-Executive Director resigned 2 May 2018)  
 
 
(ii) Other Key Management Personnel 
   
 Mr Benjamin Donovan – Company Secretary  
 Mr Viswa Prasad Dheram – Chief Financial Officer (Contract terminated on 28 September 2018) 
  
References in this report to Key Management Personnel include directors and other key management 
personnel.  
 
Company Performance and Shareholder Wealth and Directors’ and Executives’ Remuneration 
 
No options were issued to key management personnel during the year. 
 
In considering the Company’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board have regard 
to the following indices in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial years: 
 
  

2019 
 (12 months) 

 
2018 

(12 months) 

 
2017 

(12 months) 

 
2016 

(12 months) 

 
2015 

(9 months) 

Loss per share (cents) (0.06) (0.06) (0.07) (0.10) (0.27) 

Net loss ($) (816,502) (882,506) (1,065,166) (1,420,646) (3,539,114) 

Share price 0.3 cents 0.5 cents 0.5 cents 0.6 cents 0.6 cents 

Dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

 
However given the nature and stage of the Company’s operations being exploration and evaluation 
activities, the Board has not linked any performance to milestones. 
 
Options 
 
To provide further goal congruence between shareholders and key management personnel (KMP), the 
Company has, at times, issued options to key management personnel.  No options have been issued 
during the year ended 31 March 2019. There are no current plans to issue any options. 
 
The Company has no other policy for other short term or long-term incentive bonuses or other benefits. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 

11. REMUNERATION REPORT (audited) (continued) 
 

Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 31 March 2019 
 

The remuneration for key management personnel of the Company during the year was as follows: 
 

31 March 2019 Short Term Benefits 
Share-
Based 
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Other Long Term 
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 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

N.B. Kumar - - - - - - - - - - 

Narendra Kumar Nanda - - - - - - - - - - 

Devanathan Ramachandran  45,000 - - - - - - - 45,000 - 

Devinder Ahluwalia  - - - - - - - - - - 

Amitava Mukherjee - - - - - - - - - - 

Tanugula Rama Kishan Rao  - - - - - - - - - - 

Rakesh Gupta  199,983 - - - - 19,492 7315 - 226,790 - 

Ben Donovan 74,500 - - - - - - - 74,500 - 

Viswa Prasad Dheram 77,493 - - - - 6,407 (4,344) - 79,556 - 

Total 396,976 - - - - 25,899 2,971 - 425,846 - 

 
 

 

Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 31 March 2018 
 

The remuneration for key management personnel of the Company during the year was as follows: 
 

31 March 2018 Short Term Benefits 
Share-
Based 

Payments 
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Employment 
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Other Long Term 
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 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Narendra Kumar Nanda - - - - - - - - - - 

Timothy Turner  29,613 - - - - - - - 29,613 - 

Devanathan Ramachandran  47,083 - - - - - - - 47,083 - 

Devinder Ahluwalia  - - - - - - - - - - 

Tanugula Rama Kishan Rao  - - - - - - - - - - 

Rakesh Gupta  210,839 22,008(i) - - - 21,053 - - 253,900 - 

Ben Donovan 74,200 - - - - - - - 74,200 - 

Viswa Prasad Dheram 102,462 18,570(ii) - - - 9,954 - - 130,986 - 

Total 464,197 40,578 - - - 31,007 - - 535,782  

 
 

(i) Relates to the use of a motor vehicle. 
(ii) Relates to rental and outgoings and other expenses. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
11. REMUNERATION REPORT (audited) (continued) 
 
The Non-Executive Directors appointed by NMDC Limited, (Messrs Kumar, Mukherjee and Rao) have 
informed the Company to waive their director fees. 
 
SHARE BASED COMPENSATION 
 
Options Issued as Part of Remuneration  
 
There were no options issued as part of remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2019 (year ended 
31 March 2018: Nil). 
 
No options issued to key management personnel were exercised during the year ended 31 March 2019 
(year ended 31 March 2018: NIL). 
 
SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 
Chief Executive Officer – Mr Rakesh Gupta 
 
Effective 21 January 2015, Mr Rakesh Gupta was contracted to provide the services of a chief executive 
officer for $250,000 pa including superannuation.  He is entitled to the use of a company car and other 
normal entitlements for such a position.  Each party may give the other party one month’s written notice 
to terminate the agreement. 
 
Effective 1 April 2018, Mr Gupta’s contract was amended to provide the services of a chief executive 
officer for $253,500 pa including a salary of $246,500 inclusive of superannuation, plus he is entitled to 
$7,000 other normal entitlements for such a position, with each party required to give the other party 
one month’s written notice to terminate the agreement. 
 
Company Secretary – Ben Donovan 
 
The Company entered into a Company Secretary services’ agreement with Mr Benjamin Donovan. His 
base fee is $72,000 pa.  Except for gross misconduct, which allows for immediate termination of the 
agreement, the Company and Mr Donovan may terminate the agreement by either party giving 3 
months’ notice. If the Company requires Mr Donovan to not fulfil the 3 months’ notice, he is eligible to 3 
months payment in lieu.  
 
Chief Financial Officer – Mr Viswa Prasad Dheram (Contract terminated 28 September 2018) 
 
Effective 11 April 2014, Mr Viswa Prasad was contracted to provide the services of a chief financial 
officer for $114,734 pa including superannuation.  He is entitled to the Company provided 
accommodation and other normal entitlements for such a position.  Each party may give the other party 
one month’s written notice to terminate the agreement. 
 
Effective 1 April 2018, Mr Viswa Prasad’s contract was amended to provide the services of a chief 
financial officer for $147,700 salary per annum including super and is entitled to $2,000 in medical costs 
and $2000 international travel. Each party required to give the other party one month’s written notice to 
terminate the agreement. 
 
 
Finance Manager – Mr Koteswara Rao 
 
On 28 November 2018, the Company entered into a contract with Mr Gollapall Kotewara Rao as finance 
manager. Mr Rao is paid $102,722 salary per annum plus super and is entitled to $5,000 in medical 
costs and $1,000 in international travel. Each party may give the other party one month’s written notice 
to terminate the agreement. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
 

11. REMUNERATION REPORT (audited) (continued) 
 
 
Ordinary Shareholdings 
 
 
Number of ordinary shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel as at 31 March 2019: 
 

31 March 2019 

Balance at 
31 March 

2018 
No 

Balance on 
appointment 

No 

Received as 
Compensation 

No 

Net Change  
Other  

No 

Balance  
31 March 2019 

No 
N.B. Kuamra - - - - - 
Devanathan Ramachandran - - - - - 
Amitava Muhkerjee  - - - - - 
Tanugula Rama Kishan Rao  - - - - - 
Rakesh Gupta  483,762 - - -  483,762 
Ben Donovan 5,008,012 - - - 5,008,012 

Total 5,491,774 - - - 5,491,774 

 
Number of ordinary shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel as at 31 March 2018: 
 

31 March 2018 

Balance at 
31 March 

2017 
No 

Balance on 
appointment 

No 

Received as 
Compensation 

No 

Net Change  
Other  

No 

Balance  
31 March 2018 

No 
Narendra Kumar Nanda - - - - - 
Timothy Turner (resigned 31 august 2017) 750,000 - - 1,000,000 1,750,000 
Devanathan Ramachandran - - - - - 
Devinder Ahluwalia  - - - - - 
Tanugula Rama Kishan Rao  - - - - - 
Rakesh Gupta  - - - 483,762  483,762 
Ben Donovan 5,008,012 - - - 5,008,012 
Viswa Parasd Dheram - - - - - 

Total 5,758,012 - - 1,483,762 7,241,774 

 
Option Holdings 
 
No options were held by Key Management Personnel as at 31 March 2019 (as at 31 March 2018: Nil) 
 
 

 

Loans to Key Management Personnel 
 

There were no loans made to key management personnel during the year.  
 
 

 
 

END OF THE AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 

12. MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
  
During the financial year, 2 directors’ meetings were held. Attendances by each director during the year 
were as follows:  
 

 Directors’ Meetings 

Director Number Eligible to Attend  Meetings Attended 

Narendra Kumar Nanda  2 1 

Devanathan Ramachandran  2 2 

Devinder Ahluwalia  0 0 

Tanugula Rao 2 2 

Rakesh Gupta 2 2 

N.B.Kumar 2 1 

Amitava Muhkerjee 0 0 

 
The above does not include circular resolutions of the Board. 
 
There were 2 audit committee meetings held during the year. Given the size of the Company, the Board 
as a whole reviewed matters relating to nomination and remuneration matters as indicated below. 
 

 Audit  Nomination and Remuneration  

Director Eligible to attend Attended Eligible to attend Attended 

Narendra Kumar Nanda  2 2 - - 

Devanathan Ramachandran  2 2 - - 

Devinder Ahluwalia  0 0 - - 

Tanugula Rao 2 2 - - 

Rakesh Gupta 2 2 - - 

N.B.Kumar 1 1 - - 

Amitava Muhkerjee 0 0   

 
13. INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS  
 
In accordance with the constitution, except as may be prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001, every 
Director, Principal Executive Officer or Secretary of the Company shall be indemnified out of the property 
of the Company against any liability incurred by him/her in his/her capacity as Director, Principal 
Executive Officer or Secretary of the Company or any related corporation in respect of any act or 
omission whatsoever and howsoever occurring or in defending any proceedings, whether civil or 
criminal. During the year, the Company paid a premium to insure the Directors and Secretary of the 
Company. The terms of the contract of insurance prohibit disclosure of the premium paid and nature of 
liabilities covered. 
 
14. PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in 
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of 
the Company for all or any part of those proceeding. The Company was not a party to any such 
proceedings during the year, other than has been previously disclosed. 
  

On 15 February 2013, the Company served a statement of claim on the directors of Subiaco Capital Pty 
Ltd (Subiaco Capital) out of the Magistrates Court of Queensland in Brisbane in relation to a claim of 
$115,556.25 as damages for breach of contract, plus interest pursuant to the relevant Queensland 
legislation and costs. This claim relates to the non-payment by Subiaco Capital of half of the duty 
payable under an agreement for the sale of mining assets dated 25 July 2012 under which the Company 
agreed to purchase and Subiaco Capital agreed to sell two exploration permits for coal numbered 2303 
and 2304 (Agreement). 

The Company has paid the full amount of the duty assessed by the Queensland Commissioner of Stamp 
Duty (i.e. $231,112.50) and seeks reimbursement for half of that amount (i.e. $115,556.25) from Subiaco 
Capital in accordance with the Queensland Duties Act. 

This litigation is not active and there has been no change in the status during the year. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
 
15. OPTIONS 
 

Unissued Shares under Option 
 
At the date of this report, there are no options on issue (As at 31 March 2018: Nil).  

 
Details of Shares Issued During or Since Year End as a Result of Exercise of Options 
 
No shares have been issued during the year or since the year ended 31 March 2019 as a result of the 
exercise of options.  No amounts are unpaid on any of the shares.  
 
16. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
 
The Company is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its exploration activities. 
The Company aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing 
so, that it is aware of and is in compliance with all environmental legislation. The directors of the 
Company are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under review. 
 
17. AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 31 March 2019 has been received and can 
be found on page 46 of the annual report. 
 
18. NON AUDIT SERVICES 
 

During the year, Stantons International Audit and Consulting Pty Ltd did not provide any non-audit 
services to the Company. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 

 
 
_________________________________ 
Rakesh Gupta    
Chief Executive Officer 
 
24/06/2019 
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24 June 2019 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Legacy Iron Ore Limited 
Level 2 
1-5 Havelock Street 
West Perth, WA 6005 
 
 
Dear Sirs 

 
RE: LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED 
 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Legacy Iron Ore Limited. 
 
As Audit Director for the audit of the financial statements of Legacy Iron Ore Limited for the year ended 
31 March 2019, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LIMITED 
(Trading as Stantons International) 
(An Authorised Audit Company) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Martin Michalik 
Director 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 

 Note 
31 March 2019 

                     $ 
31 March 2018 

                       $ 
    
Revenue 
 

3 58,554 136,741 

Compliance and regulatory expenses  (62 754) (55,600) 
Depreciation and amortisation 11 (8,881) (33,934) 
Key management personnel remuneration 4 (338,254) (445,997) 
Employee benefit expense  (210,222) (179,337) 
Exploration expenditure expensed 4 (2 896) (2,478) 
Occupancy expenses 4 (149 766) (155,156) 
Legal expenses                                      - (7,759) 
Travel expenses  (10,806) (38,388) 
Other expenses  (76,354) (88,319) 
Corporate services 4 (12,546) (9,866) 
Finance expense 4 (2,577) (2,413) 

    
Loss before income tax  (816,502) (882,506) 
 
Income tax  
 

 
5 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Loss for the year 

  
(816,502) 

 
(882,506) 

    
Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)    
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    
Changes in the fair value of financial assets through OCI, net of 
tax 

 
17 

 
37,725 

 
314,375 

    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  - - 

    
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (778,777) (568,131) 

    
    
Basic (loss) per share 6 (0.06) cents (0.06) cents 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 

 

 Note 

              
             31 March 2019 

                  $ 

                             
                  31 March 2018 

                      $ 
    
Assets    
Current Assets    
Cash and Cash Equivalents 9 1,439,773 3,152,245 
Other Receivables 10 81,552 123,243 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  1,521,325 3,275,488 

    
Non-Current Assets    
Other Financial Assets  13 815,573 777,881 
Plant and Equipment 11 2,105 10,986 
Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 12 10,725,793 9,765,007 

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS  11,543,471 10,553,874 

TOTAL ASSETS  13,064,796 13,829,362 

    
Liabilities    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and Other Payables 14 116,397 118,558 
Employee Benefits 15 38,590 22,218 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  154,987 140,776 

    
Non-Current Liabilities    
Employee Benefits 15 - - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  - - 

    
TOTAL LIABILITIES  154,987 140,776 

NET ASSETS  12,909,809 13,688,586 

    
Equity    
Issued Capital 16 54,626,757 54,626,757 
Reserves 17 16,898,498 16,860,773 
Accumulated Losses  (58,615,446) (57,798,944) 

TOTAL EQUITY  12,909,809 13,688,586 

    

 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 

 Note 

Ordinary 
Share 
Capital 

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserve 

Option 
Premium 
Reserve 

 
Financial 
Assets 

Reserve 
Accumulated 

Losses Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 
 
BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2017  54,626,757 16,242,084 90,539 

 
 

213,775 (56,916,438) 14,256,717 

 
Loss for the year  - - - 

 
- (882,506) (882,506) 

        
Other comprehensive (loss) 17 - - - 314,375 - 314,375 

 
Total comprehensive (loss) for the 
year  - - - 

 
 

314,375 (882,506) (568,131) 
 
Shares issued during the year 16 - - - 

 
- - - 

 
Transaction costs relating to shares 
issued 16 - - - 

 
 

- - - 

 
BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2018  54,626,757 16,242,084 90,539 

 
528,150 (57,798,944) 13,688,586 

 
Loss for the year  - - - 

 
- (816,502) (816,502) 

        
Other comprehensive income 17 - - - 37,725 - 37,725 

   
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) 
for the year  - - - 

 
 

37,725 (816,502) (778,777) 
 
Shares issued during the year  16 - - - 

 
- - - 

 
Transaction costs relating to shares 
issued 16 - - - 

 
 

- - - 

 
BALANCE AT 31 MARCH 2019  54,626,757 16,242,084 90,539 

 
565,875 (58,615,446) 12,909,809 

 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 

 Note 

            
31 March 2019 

             $ 

            
31 March 2018 

                 $ 
    
Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Receipts from customers  - 4,910 
Payment to suppliers and employees  (844,205) (1,029,600) 
Interest received  76,717 127,201 
Finance costs paid  (2,577) (2,412) 
    

 
Net cash flows (used in) operating activities 

 
23 

 
(770,065) 

 
(899,901) 

    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities    
Payments for exploration and evaluation  (1,044,300) (806,913) 
Proceeds from held-to-maturity financial asset  - 70,026 
Proceeds from other non-current Asset  1,720  
Payment for held-to-maturity financial asset  - (1,675) 
Purchase of fixed assets  - (9,528) 
Receipt of cash call from joint venture participant  100,173 38,774 
Sale of fixed assets  - 42,273 

 
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities 

  
(942,407) 

 
(667,043) 

    
Cash Flows from Financing Activities    
Repayment of finance lease  - - 

 
Net cash flows (used in) financing activities 

  
- 

 
- 

    

 
Net (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 

 
(1,712,472) 

 
(1,566,944) 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of Year 

 
 

 
3,152,245 

 
4,719,189 

    

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of Year 

 
9 

 
1,439,773 

 
3,152,245 

 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
This financial report is for the financial year of twelve months ended 31 March 2019.  Legacy Iron Ore 
Limited is an entity domiciled in Australia and the address of the registered office is 2nd Floor, 1-5 
Havelock Street, West Perth WA 6005. The Company is primarily involved in mineral exploration. 
 
Legacy Iron Ore Limited is a subsidiary company of NMDC Limited, a listed Public Sector Enterprise in 
India.   
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. 
The Company is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting 
Standards. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result 
in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and 
conditions.  Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and 
notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB.  Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and 
have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 
 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the company’s functional currency. 
 
Except for cash flow information, the financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-
current assets and share-based payments. 
 
 
 
 (a) Income Tax 
 
The income tax expense/(revenue) for the year comprises current and deferred taxation. Income tax is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.  Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet 
method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
 
Temporary differences are not provided for where the initial recognition of assets and liabilities affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities using tax rates 
enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued) 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
 
 
(b) Plant and Equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis. The carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. 
The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received 
from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been 
discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
 
The cost of plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
items. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss during the financial 
period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including capitalised leased assets, is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their useful lives to the Company commencing from the time the asset is held 
ready for use. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are as follows: 
 
Computers and software 67% 
Equipment  20% 
Furniture and fittings  4-34% 
Motor Vehicles 25% 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
(c) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
 
Mineral tenements are carried at cost, less accumulated impairment losses.  Mineral exploration and 
evaluation is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest.  These costs are only carried 
forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the 
area of interest or sale of that area of interest, or exploration and evaluation activities have not reached 
a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically 
recoverable reserves and active or significant operations on or in relation to, the area of interest are 
continuing. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area of interest are written off in full against profit in the 
period in which the decision to abandon that area is made.  A regular review is undertaken of each area 
of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area 
of interest. 
 
(d) Leases 
 
Finance Leases 
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the 
asset, but not the legal ownership that are transferred to the Company are classified as finance leases. 
Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to 
the fair value of the leased assets or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any 
guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability 
and the lease interest expense for the period. 
 
Operating Leases 
Payment made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense 
over the term of the lease. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued) 
 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
 

 (e) Financial Instruments 
 
Initial Recognition and Measurement 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes party to the contractual 

provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date when the Company commits itself to either 

the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted). 

 

Financial instruments (except for trade recivables) are initially measured at fair value through Other 

Comprehensive Income. Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade 

receivable does not contain a significant financing component or if the practical expediant was applied as 

specified AASB 15.63. 

 

Classification and Subsequent Measurement 

 
 

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost - After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. 
Amortised cost is calculated by considering any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. This category generally applies 
to trade and other receivables.  
 
 

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - Financial assets at FVTPL are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are 
presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within other income 
or other expenses in the period in which they arise. Income such as interest and dividends from 
financial assets at FVTPL is recognised separately to gains or losses in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income as part of revenue from continuing operations when the 
Group’s right to receive payments is established.  

 
 

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - Financial assets 
classified as FVOCI are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes 
in the fair value are presented in other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment 
which is recognised in the statement of profit or loss immediately. When instruments classified as 
FVOCI are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued) 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(e) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
 
 

Financial Liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  The fair value, which is determined for 
disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 
 

Fair Value 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques 
are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to similar instruments and options pricing models. 
 

Impairment 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired 
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events (a “loss event”) 
having occurred, which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset(s). 
 
In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market value 
of the instrument is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit 
or loss immediately.  Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss at that point. 

 
In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments; indications that they will entre bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; and changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate allowance 
account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit losses.  After having 
taken all possible measures of recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount cannot be 
recovered by any means, at that point the written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account or 
the carrying amount of impaired financial asset is reduced directly if no impairment amount was 
previously recognised in the allowance account. 
 
When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have been 
renegotiated, the Company recognised the impairment for such financial assets by taking into account 
the original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred 
are duly considered.  
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the 
asset is transferred to another party whereby the Company no longer has any significant continuing 
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset.   
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or 
expire. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in the profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued) 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 
 (f) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is 
compared to the asset’s carrying value.  Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the Statement of Profit or Loss. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
(g) Employee Benefits 
 
Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to balance date.  Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have 
been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  Employee benefits 
payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made for those benefits.  Those cash flows are discounted using market yields on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows. In calculating 
the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service 
leave being taken is based on historical data. 
 
Defined Contribution Plans 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
Equity-Settled Compensation 
The Company operates equity-settled share-based payment share and option schemes to Directors and 
employees.  The fair value of the equity to which Directors and employees become entitled is measured 
at grant date and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to 
an equity account.  The fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price.  The fair value of 
options is ascertained using a Binomial or Black and Scholes pricing model which incorporates all 
market vesting conditions. The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted 
at each reporting date such that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the 
equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 
 
(h)  Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured. 
 
(i)  Earnings per Share 
 
The Company presents basis and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares.  Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is 
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 
comprise share options and performance shares. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued) 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
 
 (j) Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  Bank 
overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial 
Position. 
 
(k) Share-Based Payments 
 
The fair value determined at grant date of equity settled share-based payments is treated as the cost of 
assets acquired or expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s 
estimate of shares that will eventually vest.  Vesting is not conditional upon a market condition.  No 
asset or expense is recognised for share based payments that do not vest.  For cash settled share-
based payments, a liability equal to the portion of the goods or services received is recognised at the 
current fair value determined at each reporting date. 
 
(l)  Share Capital and Transaction Costs 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction net of any tax effects. 
 
(m) Revenue and Other Income 
 
The Company has adopted AASB15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. AASB 15 replaces AASB 
118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and several revenue-related Interpretations. 
 
The application of AASB 15 has not had significant impact on the financials position or financial 
performance of the company, as the company is an exploration company and have Revenue from 
contracts with customers. 
 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial 
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued) 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables 
and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.  The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to the ATO is included as a current asset or liability. 
 
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is classified as operating cash flows. 
 
(o) Interests in Joint Arrangements 
 
Joint arrangements represent the contractual sharing of control between parties in a business 
venture where unanimous decisions about relevant activities are required. Separate joint venture 
entities providing joint venturers with an interest to net assets are classified as a "joint venture" and 
accounted for using the equity method.  
 
Joint operations represent arrangements whereby joint operators maintain direct interests in each asset 
and exposure to each liability of the arrangement. The Company's interests in the assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses of joint operations are included in the respective line items of the financial 
statements. Gains and losses resulting from sales to a joint operation are recognised to the extent of 
the other parties' interests. When the Company makes purchases from a joint operation, it does not 
recognise its share of the gains and losses from the joint arrangement until it resells those goods/assets 
to a third party. 

 
Details of the joint operations are set out in note 25. 
 
(p) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
 
The Company measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-
recurring basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. Fair value is the 
price the Company would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an 
orderly (i.e. unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants 
at the measurement date. As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable 
market pricing information is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made 
having regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities 
that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. These 
valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. To the extent 
possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or liability (i.e. the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability) or, in the absence of such 
a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (i.e. 
the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to 
transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs and transport costs). 
 
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant's 
ability to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would 
use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The fair value of liabilities and the entity's own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-
based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to 
the transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information where such 
instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation techniques are 
adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
 (p) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (continued) 
 
Valuation techniques 
 
In the absence of an active market for an identical asset or liability, the Company selects and uses one 
or more valuation techniques to measure the fair value of the asset or liability. The Company selects a 
valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to 
measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the specific 
characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the 
Company are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches: 
 

• Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 

generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

• Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and 

expenses into a single discounted present value. 

• Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its 

current service capacity. 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation 
technique, the Company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs 
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as 
publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for 
which market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best information available 
about such assumptions are considered unobservable. 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair value hierarchy, which 
categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the lowest level that an 
input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows: 
  
Level 1 
Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date.  
 
Level 2 
Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
  
Level 3 
Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one 
or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of 
observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset 
or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market 
data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
 
The Company would change the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy only in the following 
circumstances: 
(i) if a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) became inactive (Level 2 or Level 3) 

or vice versa; or 
(ii) if significant inputs that were previously unobservable (Level 3) became observable (Level 2) or 

vice versa. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(p) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (continued) 
 
 
When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Company recognises transfers between levels of the 
fair value hierarchy (i.e. transfers into and out of each level of the fair value hierarchy) on the date the 
event or change in circumstances occurred. 
 
(q) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the Directors to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.  
 
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 
financial statements are described in the following notes: 
 

• Note 12 Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

• Note 13 Other Financial Assets 

• Note 24 Share-Based Payments. 
 

 
(r) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards Adopted by the Company 

The Company has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments which became effective for financial reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2018 

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers  
 

AASB 15 replaces AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and several revenue-related 
Interpretations. The Company has applied the new Standard effective from 1 April 2018 using the 
modified retrospective approach. Under this method, the cumulative effect of initial application is 
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 April 2018 and 
comparatives are not restated.  
The adoption of AASB 15 does not have a significant impact on the Company as the Company does not 
currently have any revenue from customers. 

 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments  

 

The Company adopted AASB 9 Financial Instruments effective from 1 April 2018. As a result, the 
Company has amended its financial instruments accounting policies to align with AASB 9. AASB 9 
Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It 
makes major changes to the previous guidance on the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for impairment of financial assets. 
 
There were no financial integuments which the Company designated at fair value through profit or loss 
under AASB 139 that were subject to reclassification. The Board assessed the Company’s financial 
assets and determined the application of AASB 9 does not result in a change in the classification of the 
Company’s financial instruments.  
 
The adoption of AASB 9 does not have a significant impact on the financial report. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(r) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards Adopted by the Company (continued) 
 
New and revised Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods 

AASB 16: Leases applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
  

This Standard supersedes AASB 117 Leases, Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, AASB interpretation 115 Operating Leases-Incentives and AASB interpretation 127 
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of lease. AASB 16 sets out the 
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees 
to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance 
leases under AASB 117. 

 The key features of AASB 16 are as follows: 

-    Lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12           
months unless the underlying asset is of low value. 

-    A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets and lease liabilities 
similarly to other financial liabilities. 

-    Assets and Liabilities arising from the lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The 
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments (including inflation-linked payments), and also 
includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an      
option to extend to lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease. 

-    AASB 16 contains disclosure requirements for leases. 

Lessor accounting 

 -    AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in AASB 117. 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to 
account for those two types of leases differently. 

-    AASB 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will improve 
information disclose about a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to residual value risk. 
  
Estimated impact of AASB 16 on the Company when the standard is applied 

Due to the adoption of AASB 16, the Company’s operating profit will improve, while its interest 
expense will increase. This is due to the change in the accounting for expenses of leases that were 

classified as operating leases under AASB 117. 

▪ Other standards not yet adopted 
 

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a 
material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions. 
 

 
 (s)  Comparative Figures 
 
When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current financial period.  Where the Company has retrospectively applied an 
accounting policy, made a retrospective restatement of items in the financial statements or reclassified 
items in its financial statements, an additional statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period will be disclosed. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
(t) Going concern 

The directors have prepared the financial statements on going concern basis, which contemplates 
continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the 
ordinary course of business. At 31 March 2019, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of 
$1,439,773 and incurred a loss after income tax of $816,502. The Company had net operating outflows 
totalling $770,065. The directors believe this to be appropriate for the following reasons:  

 
- The Company has cash reserves of $1,439,773 as at 31 March 2019;  
- The Company continues to monitor opportunities to raise further equity from interested investors, 

mainly NMDC, which is the major shareholder;  

The directors have prepared cash flow budgets that indicate that the Company will have cash surpluses 
for a period of at least 12 months from the date of this report. This budget is dependent on the raising 
of funds by way of equity raisings and in order for the Company to meet its exploration commitments 
and other costs.  

Based on the cash flow budgets and possible equity funding described above, the directors are satisfied 
that the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate. The financial report has therefore been 
prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business activities and the 
realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  
 
Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise assets and 
extinguish liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from those 
stated in the financial statements. 
 

 
2. DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: NIL). There are 
no franking credits available for use in subsequent reporting periods. 

 
 

3. REVENUE 
 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Interest income  51,027 98,727 
Other revenue 7,527 38,014 

Total Revenue 58,554 136,741 

 
 
4. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 
 
Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging the following expenses: 
 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Depreciation of non-current assets 8,881 33,934 
Exploration expenditure expensed 2,896 2,478 
Finance expenses 2,577 2,413 
Key management personnel remuneration (A) 338,254 445,997 
Occupancy expenses 149,766 155,156 
Corporate services  
 

12,546 
 

9,866 
 

(A) Costs of $87,592 (2018: $89,785) directly related to exploration efforts are capitalised in 
exploration and evaluation expenditure. 
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5. INCOME TAX  

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
(a) The components of tax expense comprise:   
 Current tax - - 
 Deferred tax - - 

 - - 

(b) The prime facie tax on loss before income tax is reconciled to 
income tax benefit as follows: 

  

 Prima facie tax benefit on loss before income tax at 30% (244,951) (264,752) 
 Add / (Less) Tax effect of:   

- -      Non-deductible items 54 3,146 
-  Unrecognised deferred tax asset attributable to tax losses 244,897 261,606 

 Income Tax Attributable to the Company - - 

 
(c) Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities   
   
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the 

following: 
  

 
 Deferred Tax Liabilities 

  

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure 3,119,908 2,831,672 
 Interest receivable 888 8,596 

 Total Deferred Tax Liabilities 3,120,796 2,840,268 

   
Deferred Tax Assets   
Accrued expenses 4,746 6,259 
Provisions 11,577 6,665 
Available for Sale Financial Assets 235,695 247,013 
Provision for impairment of loan receivable 60,000 60,000 
Capital raising costs 1,809 7,842 
Tax losses recognised 2,806,969 2,512,489 

Total Deferred Tax Assets 3,120,796 2,840,268 

Net Tax Assets/Liabilities - - 

 
(d) Tax Losses 
 
At 31 March 2019, the Company has $57,465,809 (31 March 2018: $55,705,615 tax losses that are 
available for offset against future taxable profits of the Company. Amount of tax losses recognised at 31 
March 2019 to offset deferred tax liabilities is $9,356,563 (31 March 2018: $8,374,962), leaving 
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2019 is $48,109,245 (31 March 2018: $47,330,653). 
 
The potential benefit of carried forward losses will only be obtained if assessable income is derived of a 
nature and, of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to the realised or the benefit 
can be utilised by the Company providing that: 
 
(i) the provisions of deductibility imposed by law are complied with; and 
(ii) no change in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the deductions. 

 
6. LOSS PER SHARE 

 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 
(a) Basic and diluted loss per share (0.06) cents (0.06) cents 

(b) Loss used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share ($816,502) ($882,506) 

   
 No No 
(c) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the period used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss 
per share 1,468,264,157 1,468,264,157 
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(d) Options  
 
There are no options on issue as at 31 March 2019 (as at 31 March 2018:Nil) for calculating diluted 
earnings per share. 

 
7. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Name and Positions of Key Management Personnel at any time during the financial year are: 
 
 Mr Nair Narayanan Baijendra Kumar  (Non-Executive Chairman appointed 8 July 2018) 
 Mr Rakesh Gupta –  Chief Executive Officer (appointed director 31 August 

2017) 
 Mr Devanathan Ramachandran   (Non-Executive Director)  
 Dr Tanugula Rama Kishan Rao   (Non-executive Director resigned 1 June 2019) 
 Dr Narendra Kumar Nanda   (Non-Executive Chairman resigned 11 March 2019) 
 Mr Amitava Muhkerjee    (Non-executive Director appointed 12 March 2019) 
 Mr Devinder Singh Ahluwalia   (Non-Executive Director resigned 1 May 2018)  
 Mr Benjamin Donovan    Company Secretary  
 Mr Viswa Prasad Dheram  Chief Financial Officer (Contract terminated on 28 

September 2018) 
 
 
Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report. 
 
Key management personnel remuneration is as follows: 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Short-term employee benefits 399,947 504,775 
Post-employment benefits 25,899 31,007 
Share-based payments - - 

TOTAL 425,846 535,782 

 
 
(b) Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel  
 
Refer to Note 18 for details on other transactions with key management personnel. 

 
8. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
uring the year the following fees were expensed for services provided 
by the auditor of the entity: 

  

- Auditing or reviewing the financial report 27,759 26,082 

Total remuneration for assurance services 27,759 26,082 

 
 
9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
 31 March 2018 

$ 
 

Cash at bank and on hand 1,439,773 3,152,245 6,346,123 
    

 1,439,773 3,152,245 6,346,123 

 
The effective interest rate on cash at bank was 2.18% (2018: 2.42%).  
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10. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
 
Current 
Loans receivable – unrelated entity (a) - 200,000 
Less Provision for impairment - (200,000) 
Sundry receivables – unrelated entity (b) 24,410 67,111 
Prepayments 57,142 56,132 
   

Total current receivables 81,552 123,243 

   
   

(a) The loan receivable from an unrelated entity is current and unsecured. The loan has been written 
off in current the year as the loan is past due and considered impaired. 

(b) Amounts receivable from unrelated entities are expected to be recovered within normal terms. 
(c) Fair value, credit risk and risk exposure 

Due to the short term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to 
approximate their fair value. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period 
is the carrying amount of receivables mentioned above. Refer further to Note 22. 

 
11. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
                        31 March 2018 

$ 

 
Furniture, fittings and equipment 
At cost 221,694 221,694 244,431 
Accumulated depreciation (219,589) (210,708) (233,699) 

 2,105 10,986 10,732 
Motor vehicles 
At cost - - 100,000 
Accumulated depreciation - - (66,164) 

 - - 33,836 

    
TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 2,105 10,986 44,568 

 
 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of plant and equipment at the beginning and end 
of the financial year are set out below: 

31 March 2019 
Motor Vehicles  

$ 

Furniture, Fittings and 
Equipment  

$ 
Total  

$ 
Net carrying value at 1 April 2018 - 10,986 10,986 
Additions - - - 
Disposals - - - 
Depreciation - (8,881) (8,881) 

Net Carrying Value at 31 March 2019 - 2,105 2,105 

    
31 March 2018    
Net carrying value at 1 April 2017 33,836 10,732 44,568 
Additions - 9,528 9,528 
Disposals (9,176) - (9,176) 
Depreciation (24,660) (9,274) (33,934) 

Net Carrying Value at 31 March 2018 - 10,986 10,986 
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12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
                      31 March 2018 

$ 
 
Non-Current 

  

Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:   
Exploration and evaluation phases – at cost 10,725,793 9,765,007 

   
Movement in Carrying Amounts   
Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 9,765,007 9,011,359 
Exploration tenements acquired (a) - - 
Exploration expenditure capitalised 1,042,237 807,661 
Less: Recovery of expenditure by Joint operations participant (81,451) (54,013) 
Less: Exploration written-off on areas to be relinquished - - 
   

Carrying Amount at the End of the Year 10,725,793 9,765,007 

 
(a) New tenements applied and pending with Department of Mines and Petroleum. 

 
The recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation is dependent on: 
 

• the continuance of the Company’s rights to tenure of the areas of interest; 

• the results of future exploration; and 

• the recoupment of costs through successful development and commercial exploitation of the 
areas of interest, or alternatively, by their sale. 

 
 
The Company’s exploration properties may be subjected to claim(s) under native title, or contain sacred 
sites, or sites of significance to Aboriginal people.  As a result, exploration properties or areas within the 
tenements may be subject to exploration restrictions, mining restrictions and/or claims for compensation.  
At this time, it is not possible to quantify whether such claims exist, or the quantum of such claims. 
      
Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
The Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure results in expenditure 
being capitalised for an area of interest where it is considered likely to be recovered by successful 
development of the area of interest or sale or where the exploration and evaluation have not reached a 
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves and active or significant 
operations on or in relation to the area of interest are continuing.   
 
The Company has established inferred/indicated category resources on some of its exploration sites 
and announced to the market from time to time. The management makes certain estimates as to future 
events and circumstances while evaluating the exploration assets.  Any such estimates and 
assumptions may change as new information becomes available during the future exploration or 
otherwise.   
 
The ultimate recoupment of the value of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale, of the underlying mineral exploration 
properties.  
 
The Company undertakes at least on an annual basis, a comprehensive review for indicators of 
impairment of these assets. Should an indicator exist, then the area of interest is tested for impairment. 
There is significant estimation and judgement in determining the inputs and assumptions used in 
determining the recoverable amounts. 
 
In addition, an allocation of the cost associated with exploration of or acquired mineral rights to individual 
projects was performed during the year. This allocation process required estimates and judgement by 
management as to the fair value of those projects acquired.  
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13.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
                       31 March 2018 

$ 
   
   

Held-to-maturity financial assets   

- Security Deposits Held (i) 86,223 86,256 
   

Financial Assets at Fair Value through OCI   

- Shares in listed corporation at fair value  729,350 691,625 

 
 

 
815,573 

 
777,881 

(i)  Deposits have been pledged as security for a bank guarantee 
provided to lessors relating to leases of office premises and credit 
card facility. 

  

 (ii) During the period, the movement in the balance is as follows: 

Opening balance 1 April 2018 691,625 377,250 

Fair value gain/(loss) on Financial Assets reserve 37,725 314,375 

Closing balance 31 March 2019 729,350 691,625 

 
(iii) Fair value is determined by reference to quoted prices in an active market (ASX) – Level 1. 

 
14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 
                      31 March 2019 

$ 
                      31 March 2018 

$ 
Current   
Trade payables 9,339 12,937 
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 107,058 105,621 

 116,397 118,558 

 
Trade payables and sundry payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 45 day terms. 
 
15. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 
                      31 March 2019 

$ 
                      31 March 2018 

$ 
Current   
Annual leave 38,590 22,218 
Long service leave - - 

 38,590 22,218 

Non-Current   
Long service leave - - 

 - - 

 
 

  

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
                              31 March 2018 

$ 
Opening balance at 1 April 2018 22,218 35,542 
Additional provisions 60,464 46,964 
Amount used (44,092) (60,288) 
Increase in the discounted amount arising because of time and effect of 
change in discount rate 

 
- 

 
- 

Closing balance at 31 March 2019 38,590 22,218 
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16. ISSUED CAPITAL 

  31 March 2019 
$ 

 31 March 2018 
$ 

 
1,468,264,157 Fully paid ordinary shares (31 March 2018: 
1,468,264,157) 

  
54,626,757 

  
54,626,757 

     
 31 March 2019  31 March 2018 

 No $ No                     $ 
(a) Fully Paid Ordinary Shares      
     
At the Beginning of the Reporting Period 1,468,264,157 54,626,757 1,468,264,157 54,626,757 
     
Shares Issued During the Reporting Period - - - - 
     

 
At Reporting Date 

 
1,468,264,157 

 
54,626,757 

 
1,468,264,157 

 
54,626,757 

 
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of shares held irrespective of the amount paid up or credited as paid up, less any amounts 
which remain unpaid on these shares at the time of the distribution. 
 
At shareholders’ meetings each share is entitled to one vote in proportion to the paid up amount of the 
share when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 
 
 

 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 
 No No 

(b) Options on Issue    
   
At the Beginning of the Reporting Period - - 
   
Movement of Options on Issue During the Reporting Period   
   
24 May 2016 – Options expired - - 

 
At Reporting Date - - 

 
 

Option holders do not have any rights to participate in any issues of shares or other interests in the 
Company or any other entity. Refer further to Note 24 Share Based Payments for details of options 
granted, lapsed, exercised and expired. 

 
 

(c)  Capital Management 
 
The Board as a whole controls the capital of the Company in order to ensure the Company can fund its 
operations and continue as a going concern. The Directors oversee the risk management strategy. 
 
The Company’s capital consists of financial liabilities supported by financial assets. There are no 
externally imposed capital requirements.  The Board effectively manage the Company’s capital by 
assessing the Company’s financial risks and responding to changes in these risks and in the market. 
This strategy is to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet trade payables and ongoing exploration 
expenditure commitments.  The Company is dependent on its ability to raise capital from the issue of 
equity from time to time.   
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17. RESERVES 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Option Premium Reserve (a) 90,539 90,539 
Share-Based Payment Reserve (b) 16,242,084 16,242,084 
Financial Asset Reserve (c) 565,875 528,150 

 16,898,498 16,860,773 

(a) Option Premium Reserve  
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 90,539 90,539 
Premiums received from the issue of options - - 
Less transaction costs relating to option issues - - 

Balance at the end of the reporting period 90,539 90,539 

   
The option premium reserve is used to recognise premiums paid by option 
 holders, net of transaction costs. 
 
(b) Share Based Payment Reserve 

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 16,242,084 16,242,084 
Movement during the period - - 
   

Balance at the end of the reporting period 16,242,084 16,242,084 

 
Refer to Note 24 for further details on share-based payments. 

 
(c) Financial Asset Reserve   
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 528,150 213,775 
Revaluation/(Devaluation), net of tax 37,725 314,375 

Balance at the end of the reporting period 565,875 528,150 

 
The financial assets reserve records revaluation of Available-for-Sale financial assets. 
 

 
18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
All transactions below are transactions entered on commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to unrelated parties. 
 
 
(a) Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
 
Details of key management personnel remuneration, shares and options issued to key management 
personnel and their personally related entities during the year are disclosed in the Remuneration Report 
section of the Directors’ Report.  
 
Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel and Their Personally Related Entities 
 

 

Company 
31 March 2019 

$ 

Consolidated 
31 March 2018 

$ 
 
Provision of accountancy services by HTG Partners, an entity related to former Director, 
Mr Timothy Paul Turner 5,335 5,809 
   

   
   

Outstanding balances arising from these transactions   
Trade and other payables - (6,223) 
   
Employee benefits payable 1,398 1,572 
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19. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
Identification of Reportable Segments 
The Company has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 
used by the Board of Directors (Chief Operating Decision Makers) in assessing performance and 
determining the allocation of resources. 
 
The Company is managed on the basis of there being two (2) reportable segments being: 
(i) Gold exploration and development in Australia;  
(ii) Iron ore exploration and development in Australia; and 
 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments: 
(a) Accounting Policies Adopted 

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the Chief Operating 
Decision Makers with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with 
accounting policies that are consistent to those adopted in the financial statements of the 
Company. 

 
(b) Inter-Segment Transactions 

There are no inter-segment transactions. Segment assets are clearly identifiable on the basis of 
their nature. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables. 

 
(c) Corporate charges, finance costs and interest revenue are not allocated to reporting segments. 

 

Segment Performance 
 

Western 
Australia  
Iron Ore 

Western 
Australia 

Gold 

Corporate Total 

31 March 2019 $ $ $ $ 

SEGMENT REVENUE 7,404 - 51,150 58,554 

     

SEGMENT NET LOSS BEFORE TAX     

Depreciation - - (8,881) (8,881) 

Corporate charges - - (866,175) (866,175) 

Segment profit(+)/ loss(-) before tax 7,404 - (823,906) (816,502) 

     

SEGMENT ASSETS 6,098,676 5,299,965 1,666,155 13,064,796 

Segment asset increases/(decreases) for the year: 155,555 798,110 (1,718,230) (764,566) 

     

SEGMENT LIABILITIES - - (154,987) (154,987) 

 

Segment Performance 
 

Western 
Australia  
Iron Ore 

Western 
Australia 

Gold 

Corporate Total 

31 March 2018 $ $ $ $ 

SEGMENT REVENUE 4,910 - 131,831 136,741 

     

SEGMENT NET LOSS BEFORE TAX     

Depreciation - - (33,934) (33,934) 

Corporate charges - - (985,313) (985,313) 

Segment loss before tax 4,910 - (887,416) (882,506) 

     

SEGMENT ASSETS 5,943,122 4,501,855 3,384,385 13,829,362 

Segment asset increases/(decreases) for the year: 389,889 678,134 (1,656,688) (588,665) 

     

SEGMENT LIABILITIES - - (140,776) (140,776) 
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20. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
 
No matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of 
affairs of the Company. 
 
21. CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 

(a) Lease Commitments   

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases not recognised as liabilities: 
 

Within 1 year 76,976 119,752 176,166 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years - 75,272 26,522 
Later than 5 years - - - 

 76,976 195,024 202,688 

 
A new non-cancellable sub-lease has been executed in November 2016 for the new office space, 
terminating the existing lease, with a fixed term of 3 years with rent payable monthly in advance. The 
lease does not allow for further subletting of the leased area. Cash deposits of $45,373 (31 March 2018: 
$45,373) have been pledged as security for a bank guarantees provided to the lessors. 
 
(b) Minimum Exploration Expenditure Commitments 
 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration and mining tenements, the Company has the 
following discretionary exploration expenditure and rental requirements up until expiry of leases. These 
obligations, which are subject to renegotiation upon expiry of the leases, are not provided for in the 
financial statements and are payable: 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Within 1 year 303,813 353,181 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 689,951 189,072 
Later than 5 years 873,092 135,836 

 1,866,856 678,089 

 
If the Company decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet these requirements, assets 
recognised in the statement of financial position may require review to determine the appropriateness 
of carrying values. The sale, transfer or farm out of exploration rights to third parties will reduce or 
extinguish these obligations. 

 
 

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 

(a) Financial Risk Management Policies 
 

The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable, 
financial assets through OCI and accounts payable and loans. 
 

Derivatives are not used by the Company. 
 
(i) Treasury Risk Management 
    
 The Board analyses financial risk exposure and evaluates treasury strategies in the context of the 

most recent economic conditions and forecasts. 
 

 The overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Company in meeting its financial 
targets, whilst minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. 
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(a) Financial Risk Management Policies (continued) 
 
(ii) Financial Risk Exposure and Management 
  

The main risks the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk and credit risk. 

 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 

Exposure to interest rate arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at reporting date 
whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or fair value of fixed financial 
instruments. Interest rate risk is managed by the Company only using fixed rates on debt and term 
deposits. Refer to Note 22(b)(iv) for further details on interest rate risk. 
 

Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. Trade and other 
payables have contractual maturities of six (6) months or less. 
 
Price Risk 
 
The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk.  This arises from the investments held and 
classified on the statement of financial position as financial assets through OCI. The Company’s 
investment is publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX).   
 
Credit Risk 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance 
date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those 
assets, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements. 

 

There are no other material amounts of collateral held as security at 31 March 2019.  
 

The Board manages credit risk by only depositing cash with Australian Authorised deposit taking 
institutions. Cash, cash equivalents and held to maturity financial assets have a AA rating. 
 

The Company has not taken out any security or guarantees over loans and other receivables. 
 
 

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets noted below represents the maximum credit 
exposure: 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Other receivables (i) 24,410 67,111 
Receivable – related entities - - 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,439,773 3,152,245 
Held to maturity Financial assets 86,223 86,256 
   

 1,550,406 3,305,612 
 

(i) In addition to other receivables above is a $200,000 (31 March 2018: $200,000) receivable which 
is considered past due and fully impaired and written off. Refer to Note 10.  
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
(b) Financial Instruments 
 
(i) Derivative Financial Instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments are not used by the Company. 
 
(ii)  Financial Instrument Composition and Maturity Analysis  
 
The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a 
fixed period maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the settlement period for all other 
financial instruments. As such the amount may not reconcile to the Statement of Financial Position. 
 

31 March 2019 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 
% 

Floating 
Interest Rate 
within 1 Year 

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate Maturing 
within 1 Year 

$ 

Maturing 
over 1 year, 
less than 5 

Years 
$ 

Non-Interest 
Bearing  

$ 
Total  

$ 
Financial Assets       
Cash & cash equivalents 2.18 239,570 1,200,000 - 203 1,439,773 
Held to maturity 
financial assets 2.18 - 85,373 - 850 86,223 
Loans & receivables  - - - 24,410 24,410 
Available for Sale 
Financial Investments  - - - 729,350 729,350 

  239,570 1,285,373 - 754,813 2,279,756 

Financial Liabilities 
(at Amortised Cost)       
Trade & other payables  - - - 116,397 116,397 

  - - - 116,397 116,397 

Net Financial Assets  239,570 1,285,373 - 638,416 2,163,359 

 

31 March 2018 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 
% 

Floating 
Interest Rate 
within 1 Year 

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate Maturing 
within 1 Year 

$ 

Maturing 
over 1 year, 
less than 5 

Years 
$ 

Non-Interest 
Bearing  

$ 
Total  

$ 
Financial Assets       
Cash & cash equivalents 2.42 278,908 2,873,265 - 72 3,152,245 
Held to maturity 
financial assets 2.42 - 85,373 - 883 86,256 
Loans & receivables  - - - 67,111 67,111 
Available for Sale 
Financial Investments  - - - 691,625 691,625 

  278,908 2,958,638 - 759,691 3,997,237 

Financial Liabilities 
(at Amortised Cost)       
Trade & other payables  - - - 118,558 118,558 

  - - - 118,558 118,558 

Net Financial Assets  278,908 2,958,638 - 641,133 3,878,679 

 
All trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid in less than 6 months. 

 
(iii) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The net fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value.  
The financial assets through OCI investment’s fair value has been determined using Level 1 inputs, ie 
quoted prices in active markets. The fair value of these financial assets has been based on the closing 
quoted bid prices at reporting date, excluding transaction costs. 
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
(iii) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables, held to maturity assets and trade and other payables 
are short-term instruments in nature whose carrying amounts are equivalent to their fair values. The fair 
values are determined on the basis of an income approach using a discounted cash flow methodology.  
Discount rates are based on market interest rates for similar instruments. 
 
(iv) Sensitivity Analysis  
 
Interest Rate Risk  
 
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current period results 
and equity which could result from a change in this risk. 
 
 
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis  
 
As 31 March 2019, the effect on loss and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other 
variables remaining constant would be as follows: 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
(Increase)/Decrease in loss   
- Increase in interest rate by 100 basis points 14,303 31,456 
- Decrease in interest rate by 100 basis points (14,303) (31,456) 
Change in equity   
- Increase in interest rate by 100 basis points 14,303 31,456 
- Decrease in interest rate by 100 basis points (14,303) (31,456) 

 
 
23. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
(i) Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

with Loss after Income Tax   
- Loss from ordinary activities after income tax (816,502) (882,506) 
Non-cash flows in loss from ordinary activities   
- Depreciation 8,881 33,934 
- Loss/(profit) on sale of fixed assets - (33,098) 
Changes in assets and liabilities   
- Decrease in other receivables 21,331 2,318 
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (147) (7,224) 
- Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits  16,372 (13,325) 

Net Cash Outflows from Operating Activities (770,065) (899,901) 

 
  

(ii) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities - - 

 - - 

   
(iii)        Borrowing Facility   
Used - - 
Unused - - 

Total Facility - - 
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24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
During the last two financial periods no options were granted to directors, employees, promoters, 
vendors, lenders and advisers as part of their remuneration package and/or ongoing support of the 
Group. 

 
Total amounts arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the year is Nil 
(previous period Nil). 
 
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows: 

 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

 Weighted 
Average Exercise 

Price 

Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of 
Options 

     

Outstanding at beginning of period N/A - N/A - 
Granted during the year N/A - N/A - 
Expired during the year N/A - N/A - 
Exercised during the year N/A - N/A - 

Outstanding and exercisable at end of year N/A - N/A - 

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end was Nil years (31 
March 2018: Nil years). 
 

 
25. INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS 
 
The Company has a 60% interest in the following joint operation which was set up with Hawthorn 
Resources Limited to explore and develop the Mt Bevan exploration tenements in Western Australian. 
The principal place of business of the joint operation is Australia. Under the Mt Bevan joint venture 
agreement, Legacy has a 60% direct interest in all of the assets of the joint operation, the revenue 
generated and the expenses incurred by the joint operation.  Legacy is also liable for 60% of any 
liabilities incurred by the joint operation. 
 

 31 March 2019  31 March 2018  
Mt Bevan  60% 60% 

     
The Company’s interest in the joint venture is included in the Statement of Financial Position in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(o) under the following classifications: 
 

 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 5,369,326 5,251,497 
Trade and other receivables(+)/payables(-) 9,677 20,254 

 
 
Included in the Company commitments (Note 21(b)) are the following commitments in relation to the 
joint venture: 
 

Minimum Exploration Expenditure Commitments 
31 March 2019 

$ 
31 March 2018 

$ 
Not later than 1 year 72,862 72,862 
Later the 1 year but not later than 5 years - - 
Later than 5 years  - - 

 72,862 72,862 

The joint venture has no contingent liabilities. 
 
 
 
 



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2019 

Page 75 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued) 

 
26.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
The Group measures and recognises the following assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis 
after initial recognition: 

- Financial assets through OCI 
The Group does not measure any assets or liabilities on a non-recurring basis. 
  
Fair Value Hierarchy 
AASB 13: Fair value measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair 
value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on 
the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows: 
 
Level 1 
Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 
Measurements based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 
Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one 
or more valuations techniques. Valuation techniques would maximise, to the extent possible, the use of 
observable market data.  If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset 
or liability is included in Level 2.  If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable data, the 
asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

 
The following table provides the fair values of the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and 
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy: 
 

  
Level 1 

 
Level 2 

 
Level 3 

 
Total 

31 March 2019 $ $ $ $ 
Recurring fair value measurements     
Available for sale financial assets 

- Shares in listed companies (Note 13) 729,350 - - 729,350 

Total financial assets recognised at fair value on 
a recurring basis 729,350 - - 729,350 

 
  

Level 1 
 

Level 2 
 

Level 3 
 

Total 
31 March 2018 $ $ $ $ 
Recurring fair value measurements     
Available for sale financial assets 

- Shares in listed companies (Note 13) 691,625 - - 691,625 

Total financial assets recognised at fair value on 
a recurring basis 691,625 - - 691,625 

 
27.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 
As per the terms of a sublease executed for the office space rental, Legacy is entitled to a rent 
concession of $2,929.79 per month for the term of sublease (being 3 years).  This concession will cease 
to apply and will be refunded to the sublessor if the Company breaches an essential term of the sublease 
agreement at any time during the tenure of the lease. The Company accounted for a rent concession of 
$48,634 till the year end (as at 31 March 2018: $48,364).   
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 
 

The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes as set out on the accompanying pages, are in accordance with 

the Corporations Act 2001 and: 
 

(i) Comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy note 
1 to the financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS); and 
 

(ii) give a true and fair view of the entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2019 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and  
 

(b) in the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and 

 
 
(c)  the Directors have been given the declarations required by s295A of the Corporations Act 2001 

from the Chief Financial Officer or equivalent. 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 

 
 
______________________________________ 
Rakesh Gupta    
Chief Executive Officer 
 
24/06/2019 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF  

LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report  

 

Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial report of Legacy Iron Ore Limited (the Company), which comprises the statement of 

financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 

statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 

 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 March 2019 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended; and 

 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 

report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's 

APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

We have defined the matter described below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report. Key 

audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

financial report of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report 

as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter. 

 

Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit 

 

Carrying Value of Exploration and Evaluation 

Assets 

The Company has capitalised exploration and 

evaluation expenditure totalling $10,725,793 (refer 

to Note 12) in terms of the application of the 

Company’s accounting policy for exploration and 

evaluation expenditure, as set out in Note 1(c). 

 

The capitalised exploration and evaluation is a key 

audit matter due to: 

 

 

 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, the 

following: 

 

i. Evaluating the Company’s accounting policy to 

recognise exploration and evaluation assets to 

the criteria in the accounting standard; 
 

ii. We assessed management’s determination of 

its areas of interest for consistency with the 



 

 

 

 The significance of the total balance 

(approx. 82% of total assets);  

 

 The level of procedures undertaken to 

evaluate management’s application of the 

requirements of AASB 6 Exploration for and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources (“AASB 

6”), in light of any indicators of impairment 

that may be present.  

 

The presence of impairment indicators requires 

judgment in determining whether it is likely that 

future economic benefits are likely either from 

future exploitation or sale, or where activities have 

not reached a stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence of economically 

recoverable reserves. The capitalisation and 

deferral of costs requires management to make 

certain estimates and assumptions about future 

events or circumstances, in particular whether an 

economically viable extraction operation may be 

established.  

 

Accordingly, we have examined documentation in 

relation to: 

 right of tenure of the Company’s Mt. Bevan 

Iron Ore Project, Mt Celia Gold Project and 

other areas of interest;  

 

 the ability of the Company to maintain and 

fund future exploration activities.  

 

definition in the accounting standard; 
 

iii. For each area of interest, we assessed the 

Company’s right to tenure over exploration 

assets by corroborating the ownership of the 

relevant licences for mineral resources to 

government registries and relevant third party 

documentation. We also tested for compliance 

with the conditions such as minimum 

expenditure requirements, on a sample of 

licences; 
 

iv. We tested the additions to exploration and 

evaluation costs for the year by evaluating a 

sample of recorded expenditure for consistency 

to underlying accounting records, the 

capitalisation requirements of the Company’s 

accounting policy and the requirements of the 

standard.  
 

v. We evaluated Company documents for 

consistency with the intentions for continuing 

exploration and evaluation activities in certain 

areas of interest and collaborated with 

interviews with geologists, finance manager 

and the chief executive officer. The Company’s 

documents we evaluated included: 
 
 Minutes of the board and management 
 
 Announcements made by the Company to 

the Australian Securities Exchange 
 
 Board papers prepared for discussion by 

the Board 
 

vi. We obtained and reviewed the directors’ 

assessment of the carrying value of the 

exploration and evaluation assets, and 

compared this for consistency with the areas of 

interest. 

 

Going Concern 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on a 

going concern basis as discussed in note 1(t). 

Historically, the Company has been loss making, 

and has depended on raising capital to fund 

exploration and administrative operations. 

 

At 31 March 2019, the Company had cash and 

cash equivalents of $1,439,773 and incurred a 

loss after income tax of $816,502. The Company 

had net operating outflows totalling $770,065. 

 

We included the going concern assumption as a 

key audit matter as it relies on existing cash 

reserves and future capital raising to cover 

exploration and operating expenditure. 

 

 

 

 

In assessing the appropriateness of the going 

concern assumption used in preparing the financial 

statements, our procedures included, amongst 

others:  
 

i. Assessing the cash flow requirements of the 

Company over 14 months from 1 April 2019 

based on budgets and forecasts.  
 

ii. Understanding what forecast expenditure is 

committed and what could be considered 

discretionary. 
 

iii. Considering the liquidity of existing assets on 

the balance sheet. 
 

iv. Obtained confirmation from the Company’s 

parent company that the parent company will 

be able to participate in any capital raising by 

the Company.  
 

v. Reviewed the financial report to ensure 

adequate disclosure in the notes regarding the 

going concern basis of preparation. 

 
 
 



 

 

 

Other Information  

 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2019, but does not include the financial report and 

our auditor’s report thereon.  

 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 

form of assurance opinion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 

of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. 

 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 

We conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 

financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 

Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 



 

 

whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

 

We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial report. 

 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in Internal control that we identify during our 

audit. 

 

The Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements. 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 

the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication. 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report  

 

 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report  

 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 39 to 43 of the directors’ report for the year ended 

31 March 2019. 

 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Legacy Iron Ore Limited for the year ended 31 March 2019 complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Responsibilities  

 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 

accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD 

(Trading as Stantons International) 

(An Authorised Audit Company) 

 

 

 
 

 

Martin Michalik 
Director 

West Perth, Western Australia 

24 June 2019 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Shareholding 
 
The distribution of members and their holdings of unrestricted equity securities in the Company as at 8 
May 2019 were as follows: 
 

Category (Size of Holding) Shareholders 
1-1,000 82 
1,001-5,000 66 

5,001-10,000 140 

10,001-100,000 492 

100,001 and over 379 

Totals 1,159 

 
The number of shareholdings held in less than a marketable parcel is 851 holders. 
 
Substantial Shareholders 
 
The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Company’s register as 8 May 2019: 
 

Shareholder 
Number of Ordinary Fully  

Paid Shares Held 
% Held of Issued  
Ordinary Capital 

1. NMDC Limited 1,153,450,796 78.56 

 
Voting Rights 
 
The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows: 
 
Ordinary Shares 
Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a 
meeting or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands. 

 
Options 
There are no options on issue. 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (continued) 
 
Twenty Largest Share Holders 
 
The names of the twenty largest ordinary fully paid shareholders as at 8 May 2019 are as follows: 
 

 

 

 

Rank  Holder Name  Designation  Securities  %  

1 NMDC LTD   1,153,450,796 78.56% 

2 ARTKING HLDGS PL ARTKING PENSION FUND 8,450,853 0.58% 

3 
JANICE PAULEY + MICAHEL 
PAULEY JANICE PAULEY SUPER 7,979,576 0.54% 

4 BINARY SOLUTIONS AUST PL KRISHNAJI PITALE S/F A/C 7,833,332 0.53% 

5 PITALE KALPESH ARVIND   7,119,382 0.48% 

6 LEEJAMES NOM PL HEPBURN S/F A/C 6,000,000 0.41% 

7 ZUO GUANGMEI   5,228,400 0.36% 

8 SCHAAKE SANDER   5,150,000 0.35% 

9 CITICORP NOM PL   5,118,660 0.35% 

10 ELOHIM NOMINEES PL EAGLE EQUITY A/C 5,008,012 0.34% 

11 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PL DRP 4,467,389 0.30% 

12 DBS VICKERS SEC SINGAPORE CLIENT ACCOUNT 4,380,000 0.30% 

13 VINEY CRAIG CHARLES   4,150,000 0.28% 

14 BERKIN SUSAN ELIZABETH   4,000,000 0.27% 

15 DOYLE BRETT DOUGLAS   4,000,000 0.27% 

16 
HSBC CUSTODY NOM AUST 
LTD   3,897,000 0.27% 

17 ZERO TO HERO PL   3,890,000 0.26% 

18 
MARGARET RYAN + MICHAEL 
RYAN   3,500,000 0.24% 

19 REED WILLIAM   3,040,782 0.21% 

20 TAN SUAN CHENG   3,000,000 0.20% 

  TOTAL 1,249,664,182 85.10% 
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SCHEDULE OF MINERAL TENEMENTS 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 

 
The Company has an interest in the gold rights of the following tenements: 
 

Tenement Holder/Applicant 
Shares 

Held/Interest Area Size 
Gold    
E80/4220 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 2 Blocks 
E80/4221 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 33 Blocks 
E31/1034 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 1 Block 
E39/1748 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 70 Blocks 
M31/0426 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 29 Hectares 
E39/1443 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 9 Blocks 
M39/1123 (P39/5001) Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 174 Hectares 
M39/1128 (P39/5002,03) Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 190 Hectares 
M39/1128 (P39/5002,03) Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 190 Hectares 
M39/1124 (P39/5004) Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 56 Hectares 
M39/1125 (P39/5005) Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 96 Hectares 
M39/1126 (P39/5006) Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 6 Hectares 
M39/1127 (P39/5007) Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 82 Hectares 
    
M31/0427 Legacy Iron Ore Limited / Cazaly Resources 90% / 10% 91 Hectares 
E31/1019 Legacy Iron Ore Limited / Cazaly Resources 90% / 10% 1 Block 
E31/1020 Legacy Iron Ore Limited / Cazaly Resources 90% / 10% 1 Block 
    
M31/0107* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 456 Hectares 
M31/0229* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 78 Hectares 
M31/0230* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 629 Hectares 
    
    

 
The Company has an interest in the iron ore rights of the following tenements: 
 

Tenement Holder/Applicant 
Shares 

Held/Interest Area Size 
Iron Ore    
    
    
E29/0510 Legacy Iron Ore Limited / Hawthorn 

Resources Limited 
60% / 40% 59 Blocks 

 

 

*The Company has a 90% interest in the gold rights of these tenements. 
 
Key to Tenement Schedule 
E - Exploration Licence 
P - Prospecting Licence 
M - Mining Licence 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 

Legacy Iron Ore Limited ("Company") has made it a priority to adopt systems of control and accountability as 
the basis for the administration of corporate governance. These policies and procedures are summarised in this 
statement. Commensurate with the spirit of the ASX Corporate Governance Council's Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations ("Principles & Recommendations") third edition, the Company has followed 
each recommendation where the Board has considered the recommendation to be an appropriate benchmark 
for its corporate governance practices.  Where the Company's corporate governance practices follow a 
recommendation, the Board has made appropriate statements reporting on the adoption of the recommendation.  
Where, after due consideration, the Company's corporate governance practices depart from a recommendation, 
the Board has offered full disclosure and reason for the adoption of its own practice, in compliance with the "if 
not, why not" regime. 

The Company is aware of the 4th edition of the ASX recommendations and will adopt these in the coming year. 

Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices 

Summary Statement 

 
ASX 

P & R 
If not, why not 

 ASX  
P & R 

If not, why not 

Recommendation 1.1   Recommendation 4.1   

Recommendation 1.2   Recommendation 4.2   

Recommendation 1.3   Recommendation 4.3   

Recommendation 1.4  
 

Recommendation 5.1   

Recommendation 1.5 
 

 Recommendation 6.1   

Recommendation 1.6 Recommendation 1.3 

 

  Recommendation 6.2   

Recommendation 1.7   Recommendation 6.3   

Recommendation 2.1   Recommendation 6.4   

Recommendation 2.2  
 

Recommendation 7.1   

Recommendation 2.3  
 

Recommendation 7.2   

Recommendation 2.4 
 

 Recommendation 7.3   

Recommendation 2.5 
 

 Recommendation 7.4   

Recommendation 2.6   Recommendation 8.1   

Recommendation 3.1   Recommendation 8.2   

 
Website Disclosures 

Further information about the Company's charters, policies and procedures may be found at the 
Company's website at www.legacyiron.com.au, under the section marked Corporate Governance.  

Disclosure – Principles & Recommendations 

The Company reports below on how it has followed (or otherwise departed from) each of the 
Principles & Recommendations during the 2018/2019 financial period ("Reporting Period"). 
 
Principle 1 – Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 

Recommendation 1.1: A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the respective roles and responsibilities of its board and management; and 

(b) those matters expressly reserved to the board and those delegated to management. 

Disclosure: 

The Company has established the functions reserved to the Board and has set out these functions in 
its Board Charter. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company 
through its key functions of overseeing the management of the Company providing overall corporate 
governance of the Company, monitoring the financial performance of the Company, engaging 
appropriate management commensurate with the Company's structure and objectives, involvement  
in the development of corporate strategy and performance objectives and reviewing, ratifying and 
monitoring systems of risk management and internal control, codes of conduct and legal compliance. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT(Continued) 

The Company has established the functions delegated to senior executives and has set out these 
functions in its Board Charter. Senior executives are responsible for supporting the Chief Executive 
Officer and assisting the Chief Executive Officer in implementing the running of the general operations 
and financial business of the Company, in accordance with the delegated authority of the Board. 
 
Senior executives are responsible for reporting all matters which fall within the Company's materiality 
thresholds at first instance to the Chief Executive Officer or, if the matter concerns the Chief Executive 
Officer, then directly to the Chair or the lead independent Director, as appropriate. 

Recommendation 1.2: A listed entity should: 

(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, or putting forward to security holders 
a candidate for election, as a director; and 

(b) provide security holders with all material information in its possession relevant to a decision on 
whether or not to elect or re-elect a director. 

Disclosure: 
The board undertakes a review of the potential candidate and their appropriate skills through a 
reference of previous positions and industry contacts. The board does not undertake the full checks 
as recommended. 

Full details of each person are announced in the initial appointment announcement and also in the 
Annual Report. Where a director is seeking election, shareholders are given full details. 

Recommendation 1.3: A listed entity should have a written agreement with each director and 
senior executive setting out the terms of their appointment. 

Disclosure: 
Upon joining the Company, each director and senior executive enters into an agreement with the 
Company which sets out the key terms of their employment and their responsibilities including 
adhering to all Company policies. 

Recommendation 1.4: The company secretary of a listed entity should be accountable directly to 
the board, through the chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the board. 

Disclosure: 
The Company Secretary advises the board directly on all matters regarding the function of the board, 
in consultation with any legal advice if so required. The Secretary is responsible for the co-ordinating 
of all board matters, committee meetings and advice. 

Recommendation 1.5: A listed entity should: 

(a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the board or a relevant committee of the 
board to set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and to assess annually both the 
objectives and the entity’s progress in achieving them; 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it; and 

(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period the measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity set by the board or a relevant committee of the board in accordance with the entity’s diversity 
policy and its progress towards achieving them, and either:  

(1) the respective proportions of men and women on the board, in senior executive positions and 
across the whole organisation (including how the entity has defined “senior executive” for these 
purposes); or  

(2) if the entity is a “relevant employer” under the Workplace Gender Equality Act, the entity’s most 
recent “Gender Equality Indicators”, as defined in and published under that Act.16  

Disclosure: The Company does not qualify under the Act. The Company has a policy of appointing 
the most suitably qualified person to each position in the Company. Where there is a vacancy in the 
Company, the most suitable party will be employed. 

At present, there is no documented policy of objectives, as positions are selected on the best available 
candidate. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT(Continued) 
At the date of this report, all senior executive positions, being persons who can influence the direction 
of the Company, are filled by males. 

Recommendation 1.6: 

A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was undertaken 
in the reporting period in accordance with that process. 

Disclosure: 
The Chair is responsible for evaluating the board and the various committee members. The Chair 
holds informal discussions with the board on an ongoing basis, as required. The Company intends to 
move to a more formal process for evaluation. 

Recommendation 1.7 

A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of its senior executives; 
and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was undertaken 
in the reporting period in accordance with that process. 

Disclosure: 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for evaluating the senior executives, and does this by 
holding informal discussions with the senior executives on an ongoing basis, as required. The Chief 
Executive Officer also holds a formal review once a year. 

Principle 2 – Structure the Board to Add Value 

Recommendation 2.1 

The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a nomination committee which:  

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and  

(2) is chaired by an independent director,  

and disclose:  

(3) the charter of the committee;  

(4) the members of the committee; and  

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout the 
period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a nomination committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs to 
address board succession issues and to ensure that the board has the appropriate balance of skills, 
knowledge, experience, independence and diversity to enable it to discharge its duties and 
responsibilities effectively. 
 
Disclosure: 
As at April 2019, the Nomination Committee consisted of 3 members being Mr Mukherjee, Dr Rao 
and Mr Gupta, with Dr Rao as Chairman of the Committee. All directors are deemed to not be 
independent. Given the size of the Company, the Board considers the make up of the Committee as 
appropriate. The Committee has a charter setting out the criteria and responsibilities for the selection 
of new Directors. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT(Continued) 
 
The number of times the committee met is outlined in the annual report. 
 

Recommendation 2.2 
A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and diversity 
that the board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership. 
 

Disclosure: 
The skills of each individual director is outlined in the annual report setting out the qualifications and 
experience of each person. 
 

Recommendation 2.3 
A listed entity should disclose: 
(a) the names of the directors considered by the board to be independent directors; 
(b) if a director has an interest, position, association or relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 
but the board is of the opinion that it does not compromise the independence of the director, the 
nature of the interest, position, association or relationship in question and an explanation of why the 
board is of that opinion; and 
(c) the length of service of each director 
 

Name (as at 31 March 2019) Position Independent 

Mr N. B. Kumar Non-Executive Chairman No 

Dr T.K. Rao Non-Executive Director No 

Mr Rakesh Gupta 
Executive Director / Chief Executive 
Officer 

No 

Mr Devanathan Ramachandran Non-Executive Director Yes 

Amitava Mukherjee Non-Executive Director No 

 
An independent Director is defined as a Non-Executive Director and; 

• Is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of or directly or indirectly associated 
with a substantial shareholder of the Company; 

• Within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the Company, or 
been a Director after ceasing to hold any such employment; 

• Within the past three years has not been a principal of a material professional advisor or a 
material consultant to the Company or an employee associated with a such a material service 
provider or advisor; and, 

• Does not have a material contractual relationship with the Company other than as a Director of 
the Company.  

Disclosure: 
As at April 2019, the Board comprised five Directors, with Mr Devanathan being the only independent 
director. The remaining Directors are not independent because Mr Kumar, Mr Mukherjee and Dr Rao 
are nominees of the largest shareholder in the Company, and Mr Gupta holds the position of Chief 
Executive Officer. The Board considers that the merits of appointing additional Directors in order to 
achieve majority independent status are outweighed by the Board’s wish to maintain a relatively small 
Board of five Directors, which the Board believes is adequate having regard to the operations of the 
Company. 

Dr Rao has resigned as a director of the Company on 1 June 2019, and Mr Alok Mehta has been 
appointed as a director on 17 June 2019. 

A profile of each Director containing their skills, experience, expertise and term of office is set out in 
the Directors' Report.  

Identification of Independent Directors 

The independent Director of the Company is Mr Devanathan Ramachandran. Mr Ramachandran is 
independent as he is a Non-Executive Director who is not a member of management and is free of 
any material business or other relationship that could interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived 
to materially interfere with, the independent exercise of their judgment. 
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Independence is measured having regard to the relationships listed in Box 2.1 of the Principles & 
Recommendations and the Company's materiality thresholds. The materiality thresholds are set out 
below. 

Group's Materiality Thresholds 

The Board has agreed on the following guidelines for assessing the materiality of matters, as set out 
in the Company's Board Charter: 

• Statement of Financial Position items are material if they have a value of more than 10% of net 
assets. 

• Profit and loss items are material if they will have an impact on the current period operating 
result of 10% or more. 

• Items are also material if they impact on the reputation of the Company, involve a breach of 
legislation, are outside the ordinary course of business, they could affect the Company’s 
rights to its assets, if accumulated they would trigger the quantitative tests, involve a 
contingent liability that would have a probable effect of 10% or more on statement of financial 
position or profit and loss items, or they will have an effect on operations which is likely to 
result in an increase or decrease in net income or dividend distribution of more than 10%. 

Contracts will be considered material if they are outside the ordinary course of business, contain 
exceptionally onerous provisions in the opinion of the Board, impact on income or distribution in 
excess of the quantitative tests, there is a likelihood that either party will default, and the default may 
trigger any of the quantitative tests, are essential to the activities of the Company and cannot be 
replaced, or cannot be replaced without an increase in cost of such a quantum, triggering any of the 
quantitative tests, contain or trigger change of control provisions, they are between or for the benefit 
of related parties, or otherwise trigger the quantitative tests. 

Recommendation 2.4 

A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent directors. 

Disclosure: 
As set out above, the Company does not meet this requirement due to the size of the Company. 

Recommendation 2.5: The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an independent director 
and, in particular, should not be the same person as the CEO of the entity. 

Disclosure: 
The Chair of the Board since December 2011 has been Mr Narendra Kumar Nanda and from 9 July 
2019 has been Mr N.B. Kumar, who is a nominated representative of the largest shareholder. Mr 
Kumar is not deemed to be independent. During the Reporting Period Mr Nanda and Mr Kumar were 
chair of the Company with the Chief Executive position carried out by Mr Rakesh Gupta. 

Recommendation 2.6: A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors and provide 
appropriate professional development opportunities for directors to develop and maintain the skills 
and knowledge needed to perform their role as directors effectively. 

Disclosure: 
Each director is provided with an induction to the Company’s assets and business including all policies 
and procedures. Each director can request appropriate development opportunities which will be 
considered by the board on each occasion. 

If a Director considers it necessary to obtain independent professional advice to properly discharge 
the responsibility of their office as a Director then, provided the Director first obtains approval for 
incurring such expense from the Chair, the Company will pay the reasonable expenses associated 
with obtaining such advice 
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Principle 3 – Act ethically and responsibly  

Recommendation 3.1 

A listed entity should: 

(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives and employees; and 

(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. 

Disclosure: 
The Company has established a Code of Conduct as to the practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in the Company's integrity, practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations 
and the expectations of their stakeholders and responsibility and accountability of individuals for 
reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.  

Principle 4 – Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 

Recommendation 4.1 

The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have an audit committee which:  

(1) has at least three members, all of whom are non-executive directors and a majority of whom are 
independent directors; and  

(2) is chaired by an independent director, who is not the chair of the board,  

and disclose:  

(3) the charter of the committee;  

(4) the relevant qualifications and experience of the members of the committee; and  

(5) in relation to each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout the period 
and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs that 
independently verify and safeguard the integrity of its corporate reporting, including the processes for 
the appointment and removal of the external auditor and the rotation of the audit engagement partner. 

Disclosure: 
The Board has established an Audit committee that is structured in accordance with Recommendation 
4.1 where possible. 

As at April 2019, Mr Mukherjee, Dr Rao and Mr Ramachandran were members of the Audit Committee 
with Mr Mukherjee as Chairman of the Committee. Only Mr Ramachandran is  considered 
independent. 

The Company has adopted an Audit Committee Charter which sets out the responsibilities and role 
of the Committee and how it reports to the Board. 

Details of each of the Director's qualifications are set out in the Directors' Report. The Chairman of 
the Audit Committee has formal qualifications in the area of accounting, while the other members 
either have formal qualifications or have industry knowledge and experience and consider themselves 
to be financially literate. Further, the Company's Audit Committee Charter provides that the Board 
meet with the external auditor without management present, as required.  

The Company has established procedures for the selection, appointment and rotation of its external 
auditor. The Board is responsible for the initial appointment of the external auditor and the 
appointment of a new external auditor when any vacancy arises, as recommended by the Audit 
Committee (or its equivalent). Candidates for the position of external auditor must demonstrate 
complete independence from the Group through the engagement period. The Board may otherwise  
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select an external auditor based on criteria relevant to the Company's business and circumstances.  
 

The performance of the external auditor is reviewed on an annual basis by the Audit Committee (or 
its equivalent) and any recommendations are made to the Board. 

The Audit Committee met twice during the Reporting Period. 

Recommendation 4.2 

The board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s financial statements for a financial 
period, receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration that, in their opinion, the financial records of the 
entity have been properly maintained and that the financial statements comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the 
entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system of risk management and 
internal control which is operating effectively. 

Disclosure: 
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) have provided a declaration 
to the Board in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act and have assured the Board 
that such declaration is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that 
the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial risk. 

Recommendation 4.3 

A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its external auditor attends its AGM and is available 
to answer questions from security holders relevant to the audit. 

Disclosure: 

The Company invites the auditors to attend the AGM and forwards any questions received to the 
auditors for comment. 

Principle 5 – Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 

Recommendation 5.1: Recommendation 5.1 

A listed entity should: 

(a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous disclosure obligations under the Listing 
Rules; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

Disclosure: 
The Company has established written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure and accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance. The policies also include 
examples of disclosure requirements and who can communicate with media outlets. 

Principle 6 – Respect the Rights of Security Holders 

Recommendation 6.1:  

A listed entity should provide information about itself and its governance to investors via its website. 

Disclosure: 
The Company has designed a communications policy for promoting effective communication with 
shareholders and encouraging shareholder participation at general meetings. This includes all 
relevant information being disclosed on the Company’s website. 

Recommendation 6.2 

A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations program to facilitate effective two-
way communication with investor. 
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Disclosure: 

The company welcomes open communication with shareholders. 

Recommendation 6.3 

A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in place to facilitate and encourage 
participation at meetings of security holders. 

Disclosure: 

A copy is available on the Company’s website. 

Recommendation 6.4 

A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive communications from, and send 
communications to, the entity and its security registry electronically. 

Disclosure:  
The Company has an email where shareholders can request to receive all information electronically 
and offers the same service through its share registry. 
 

Principle 7 – Recognise and Manage Risk 

Recommendation 7.1: The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a committee or committees to oversee risk, each of which:  

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and  

(2) is chaired by an independent director,  

and disclose:  

(3) the charter of the committee;  

(4) the members of the committee; and  

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout the 
period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose that fact and the 
processes it employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management framework. 

Disclosure: 
The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy, which sets out the Company's risk profile. Under 
the policy, the Board is responsible for approving the Company's policies on risk oversight and 
management and satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented a sound system 
of risk management and internal control. 
 
Under the policy, the Board delegates day-to-day management of risk to the Chief Executive Officer 
who is responsible for identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing risks. The Chief Executive 
Officer and the Finance Manager are responsible for updating the Company's material business risks 
to reflect any material changes, with the approval of the Board.  
 
In fulfilling the duties of risk management, the Chief Executive Officer may have unrestricted access 
to Company employees, contractors and records and may obtain independent expert advice on any 
matter they believe appropriate, with the prior approval of the Board. 
 
In addition, the following risk management measures have been adopted by the Board to manage the 
Company’s material business risks: 
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• the Board has established authority limits for management which, if exceeded, will require 
prior Board approval;  

• the Board has adopted a compliance procedure for the purpose of ensuring compliance with 
the Group's continuous disclosure obligations; and 

• the Board has adopted a corporate governance manual which contains other policies to 
assist the Company to establish and maintain its governance practices. 

The Board has also established an audit and risk committee. 

Recommendation 7.2:  

The board or a committee of the board should: 

(a) review the entity’s risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues 
to be sound; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether such a review has taken place. 

 
Disclosure: 
Management report to the Board as to the effectiveness of the Company's management of its material 
business risks via the Audit Committee meetings. In addition at every board meeting, the Board is 
provided with an update to ensure all relevant risks and systems are in place and working effectively. 

Recommendation 7.3: A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it performs; or 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs for evaluating 
and continually improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control processes. 

Disclosure: 

The Company has a Finance Manager which oversees the operations of the Company and sets the 
required measures for financial management. The Board receives assurances from the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Finance Manager that the financial accounts are founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.  

The Company has an internal audit committee as outlined above, which then reviews these financial 
reports in addition to the external auditors. 

Recommendation 7.4 

A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, environmental and 
social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those risks. 

Disclosure: 
The Company is an exploration company and as such has exposure to the risks of the mining industry 
including commodity prices, environmental risks etc. 

 

Principle 8 – Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 

Recommendation 8.1  

The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a remuneration committee which:  

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and  

(2) is chaired by an independent director,  

and disclose:  

(3) the charter of the committee;  



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2019 

Page 93 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT(Continued) 
 

(4) the members of the committee; and  

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout the 
period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs for 
setting the level and composition of remuneration for directors and senior executives and ensuring 
that such remuneration is appropriate and not excessive. 

Disclosure: 
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee. The Committee has adopted a formal 
charter setting out the responsibilities and considerations in determining remuneration of Executives 
and Non-Executives. As at April 2019, Mr Kumar, Mr Gupta and Dr Rao are members of the 
Committee with Mr Kumar as Chairman of the Committee. No members of the Committee are deemed 
to be independent. The Board considers the remuneration committee is sufficient given the size of 
the Board.  

The remuneration committee did not meet during the period. 

Recommendation 8.2:  

A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices regarding the remuneration of non-
executive directors and the remuneration of executive directors and other senior executives. 

Disclosure: 

Non-Executive Directors are remunerated at a fixed fee for their time and their responsibilities to 
various committees.  

 

The Non-Executive Directors are however eligible to participate in the Company’s incentive plan. The 
Board considers that this is a necessary motivation to attract the highest calibre candidates to the 
Board at this stage in the Company’s operations. 

Recommendation 8.3:  

A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration scheme should: 

(a) have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions (whether through 
the use of derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of participating in the scheme; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

Disclosure: 
Details of remuneration, including the Company’s policy on remuneration, are contained in the 
“Remuneration Report” which forms of part of the Directors’ Report.  
 
The Company does not have any equity-based remuneration policies at present. 
 
The Remuneration Committee meets to discuss the employments terms of the Chief Executive Officer  
and Non-Executive Directors where required, under an adopted Remuneration Committee Charter. 
 

There are no termination or retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors (other than for 
superannuation). 

Securities Trading Policy 

The Company has also established a policy concerning trading in the Company’s securities by 
Directors, senior executives and employees. 
 
The policy includes blackout periods where no trading in Group securities shall take place between: 
(i) Up to and including five (5) weeks prior to the announcement of the annual results, due to be 

lodged by no later than 30 June of each calendar year;  
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(ii) Up to and including five (5) weeks prior to the announcement of the half year results, due to 

be lodged by no later than 15 December of each calendar year; and  
 
 

(iii) The last two (2) week period of the months of January, April, July and October prior to the 
release of the quarterly results for the periods ending 31 December, 31 March, 30 June and 
30 September; or 

(iv) as directed in writing by the Company’s Board at any time in its sole discretion. 

If Directors including the Managing Director wish to trade securities outside the blackout period, they 
must obtain approval from the Chairman. Employees must obtain the approval of the Managing 
Director, and the Chairman must obtain the approval of the Board. 

 


